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VISION & MISSION

VISION

Cricket South Africa’s vision is to make cricket a truly national sport of winners.

This has two elements to it:

• To ensure that cricket is supported by the majority of South Africans, and available to all who want to play it

• To pursue excellence at all levels of the game

MISSION

As the governing body of cricket in South Africa, Cricket South Africa will be lead by:

• Promoting and protecting the game and its unique spirit in the context of a democratic South Africa.

• Basing our activities on fairness, which includes inclusivity and non-discrimination

• Accepting South Africa’s diversity as a strength

• Delivering outstanding, memorable events

• Providing excellent service to Affiliates, Associates  and Stakeholders

• Optimising commercials rights and properties on behalf of its Affiliates and Associates

• Implementing good governance based on King 2, and matching diligence, honesty and transparency to all our activities

CODE OF ETHICS

Cricket South Africa’s Code of Ethics is based on:

• Fundamental ethical values that are enshrined in the South African Constitution

• The core values of the game of cricket as defined in the Preamble to the Laws of Cricket

• The principles and ideals contained in CSA’s Pledge to the Nation in 2002

• CSA’s role as the custodian of cricket in South Africa

TRANSFORMATION

Cricket South Africa subscribes to targeted transformation as outlined in the Preamble of the South African Constitution

as well as Chapter Two which deals with the Bill of Rights and Equality (to promote the achievement of equality, legislative

and other measures designed to protect and advance persons, or categories of personas, disadvantaged by unfair

discrimination may be taken).

The implementation of CSA’s Transformation Policy and its 10 Thrusts are monitored continuously. The Policy is reviewed

from time to time in terms of the dynamic nature of cricket and of South African society as a whole.



One can without fear
of contradiction
say that CSA enjoyed
a successful season
both on, and off, the field

Shaun Pollock with
Gerald Majola and
Norman Arendse during
the 5th ODI between
South Africa and
West Indies

Arcbishop Desmond Tutu with
Norman Arendse, Shandre
Fritz and Andre Odendaal
during Day 1 of the 2nd Test
match between South Africa
and West Indies

Norman Arendse &
Gerald Majola during
the Cricket SA and
Mutual & Federal
Annual 2007/2008



The year under review
witnessed many positive
developments that have taken
cricket to a new, and higher,
level. In September 2007,
Cricket South Africa (CSA)
hosted the first ICC World
Twenty20, won eventually by
India. The tournament was
hosted at relatively
short notice, and much credit
must go to the Policy Committee
and to Steve Elworthy, the
Tournament Director
who was responsible for
organising the playing of
the tournament.

It is now well-known that the successful
hosting of the tournament resulted in
20/20 cricket becoming the most

popular format in cricket, and increased
the value of this ICC event exponentially.

In October 2007, CSA entered
into a Memorandum of Understanding
(MOU) with the South African
Cricketers’ Association (SACA) which
is a collective agreement that defines
the relationship between CSA and
SACA, and the professional
players at franchise and national level.

The effect of the MOU cannot be
over-emphasised: it has brought
certainty to the way in which CSA does
its future financial planning over a
4 – 5 year period; and, it has given
national and franchise players
financial guarantees.

During December 2007 and January
2008, CSA also established the
Transformation Review Committee
(TRC), a Governance Review Committee

(GRC), and a Franchise Review
Committee (FRC). The TRC embarked
on extensive consultations
with all stakeholders concerned
and it produced a comprehensive
report in June 2008. In essence,
the TRC found that CSA’s policy of
development and targetted
transformation has been a
success at all levels, and that
there was no reason to abandon
these policies.

Accordingly, the Committee
recommended that CSA’s policy of
targeted transformation be retained.
On the vexed issue of the presidential
veto, the Committee rightly
recommended its abolition, and this,
and other recommendations, were
unanimously adopted by CSA.

The effect of the changes recommended
by the GRC was that cricket will in due
course be governed by one body.

The FRC was established to conduct a
review of the franchise system.
The review is on-going, and it has been
accepted that the franchise system
remain in place for 2008/2009 season.

The agenda at the International
Cricket Council (ICC) has been
dominated by Zimbabwe;
the resignation of the former CEO
(Malcolm Speed); and the Indian
Premier League (IPL) and the Indian
Cricket League (ICL).

CSA suspended its bi-lateral relations
with Zimbabwe in June 2008. As a
consequence, the ZCU eventually
agreed at the ICC meeting in July 2008
to voluntarily withdraw from the T20
tournament to be held in England in

2009 whilst still retaining full
membership of the ICC.

The former CEO of the ICC,
Malcolm Speed, resigned in April 2008
following his dissatisfaction with the
decision of the ICC Executive Committee
in relation to the KPMG Auditors’
Report on the ZCU.

April/May 2008 witnessed the
overwhelming success of the launch of
the IPL. The ICL on the other hand,
did not get the approval of the Indian
Cricket Board (BCCI), and therefore
was not recognised by the ICC as
playing “official cricket”.

On the field, the Proteas continued their
quest for dominance in all forms of
cricket. It became the No 1 team in
ODI cricket, and recently were elevated
to the No 2 spot in the Test rankings.
On an individual level, we congratulate
Jacques Kallis on becoming the Wisden
Cricketer of the Year for 2007, and
Dale Steyn for being named as the
Mutual & Federal Player of the Year.

The saddest moment on the field was
however the retirement of Shaun Pollock
from international cricket. Shaun has
been a dedicated and disciplined
player, and a role model for every
young cricketer who aspires to play at
international level.

In conclusion therefore, one can without
fear of contradiction say that CSA
enjoyed a successful season both on,
and off, the field: its finances are in
good order; the administration is sound
with no hint of bad governance; and
its on-field performance reaching near
perfect levels. CSA has shown that it
will deal with even the most awkward
issues in a principled, structured,
organised, and constitutionally-
acceptable manner such as for
example, issues around selection policy,
and the apparent rift between the
President and the CEO.

I said last year in my maiden
presidential address that CSA will strive
to marry transformation with excellence,
and that it will conduct its business in
an open, transparent, and accountable
manner. I am pleased to report that
these objectives have been attained
during the course of the year under
review, and we look forward to
maintaining this track record.
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The successes of the
Proteas were not a
coincidence, but rather
the result of the first
full season of the
establishment of a
structured pipeline from
Bakers Mini Cricket
to the Proteas.

Gerald Majola presents
the trophy to Pierre Joubert
during the Standard Bank
Pro20 final

Shaun Pollock applauded by
his team mates during the
5th ODI between South
Africa and West Indies

Robin Peterson
and Ashwell
Prince celebrate
the wicket



The year under review
was marked by the successful
implementation of 10 key
elements of South African
cricket:

• The Proteas achieving their best
season since the unification of South
African cricket in 1991

• The administrative restructuring
of South African cricket into a single
body to enable the maximisation
of funds through tax rebates for
the development of the game at
amateur levels

• Putting sound and effective financial
controls in place, underpinned by
good governance structures

• Establishing a pipeline for the
development of the game from
grassroots to the Proteas

• Providing strong domestic
competitions

• SA cricket being supported by loyal,
blue-chip sponsors

• Confirming South Africa as
one of the best hosts for world-class
cricket events

• South Africans making a major
contribution to the administration of
world cricket

• Cricket South Africa recommitting
to the policy of targeted
transformation

• Cricket playing a major role in
nation-building

PROTEAS AT THEIR BEST:

The Proteas finished the year under
review as the world’s best ODI team
and in the top three nations in
Test cricket. They won 30 out
of the 39 matches in all three formats
of the game.

They also were unbeaten on three trips
to the Sub-Continent during this period,
an unprecedented feat.

The season also saw Graeme Smith
maturing into a world-class captain,
and together with coach Mickey Arthur,
bringing a stability and consistency
that was lacking in the past.

Overall the Proteas had their most
successful season since unity in 1991,
and some pundits say it was the best
of all time for South African cricket.

While it was a period of outstanding
teamwork, the Proteas broke many
individual records including:

• Mark Boucher broke the world
record twice for the most Test
dismissals by a wicketkeeper,
overtaking the Australian
pair of Ian Healy (395) and
Adam Gilchrist (416)

• Graeme Smith and Neil McKenzie
set a world record Test opening
partnership of 415 against
Bangladesh at Chittagong,
beating the previous best of 413 by
India’s Vinoo Mankad and
Pankaj Roy in 1955/56

• In the same match, Graeme Smith
passed Hansie Cronje’s record of
captaining South Africa 53 times

• Graeme also became the second
youngest player to score 5 000 Test
runs after Sachin Tendulkar of India

• Dale Steyn took the fewest Tests to
take 100 Test wickets, beating the
record of 22 by Hugh Tayfield and
Allan Donald

The Proteas were, however,
disappointing in international
tournaments, including the inaugural
ICC Twenty20 Championships hosted
in South Africa. This is an aspect of
their international programme
that is under close examination
by both CSA and the Proteas
team management.

A sad note to the season was the
retirement from international cricket by
Shaun Pollock after an illustrious
career spanning over a decade.
This sadness, however, was tempered
by a wonderful send-off that was
afforded him by CSA and his beloved
fans throughout the country.

THE PIPELINE, STRONG DOMESTIC
COMPETITIONS AND HIGH
PERFORMANCE PROGRAMME:

The successes of the Proteas were not
a coincidence, but rather the result of
the first full season of the establishment
of a structured pipeline from Bakers
Mini Cricket to the Proteas.

The pipeline ensures that all
stakeholders have a clear picture of
the route from grassroots to the pinnacle
of international cricket (see below).

The season also saw the consolidation
of the franchise system for domestic
professional cricket. The strength-versus-
strength format allowed for increasingly
high standards of play, which in turn
allowed players such as Dale Steyn,
Mornè Morkel, Hashim Amla,
Neil McKenzie and JP Duminy
to make a successful jump into the
international arena.

The Gestetner Diamond Eagles and the
Nashua Titans were the dominant forces
in the franchise season, winning all
three trophies on hand between them.

Strong amateur competitions and
development programmes also led to
a steady stream of players vying for
franchise contracts, with amateur cricket
remaining a major focus of CSA’s
activities and funding. Regional centres
of excellence are also helping to
uncover and nurture talent.

Rural cricket has now been brought
into the main stream, with teams from
these regions competing in formal
competitions as apposed to the national
“social” week of the past.

Women’s cricket also received a big
boost during the year under review,
with the hosting in Stellenbosch of the
ICC Women’s World Cup qualifier
which was won by South Africa.

Other successful areas of the pipeline
were the High Performance Programme
and the National Academy, both
sponsored by Standard Bank.

The academy concentrates on spotting
and developing emerging talent, whilst
the HPP is there to bridge the gap
between domestic and international
professional cricket.

The National U19 team emerged in
the main from the academy, and went
on to reach the final of the U19 World
Cup in Malaysia against all
expectations, narrowly losing to India.
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The SA Emerging Players Squad
successfully defended their title in
Australia beating the hosts, India and
New Zealand which was a feather in
the cap of the HPP.

SUSTAINABILITY AND FUNDING:

Cricket is fortunate in having loyal,
blue-chip sponsors and suppliers to
assist in the funding of competitions
and development programmes and
CSA pays tribute to them.

The other main source of revenue is
from the sale of television rights
from tours into South Africa. This,
unfortunately, fluctuates massively and
CSA has now put in place a four-year
view to underpin its budgeting process.

The year under review represents one
of the leaner financial years in the four-
year cycle. However, due to a
combination of unbudgeted revenue
(such as matches against India in
Ireland and interest on large cash
balances) as well as continuous cost
containment, CSA has a significantly
favourable variance.

Reserves play a key role in allowing
CSA to plan for poor financial years,
yet maintain funding to all
cricket regions.

Any excess reserves are clearly
available for distribution but a critical
priority is to first ensure reserve
adequacy for the lean years.

Cricket continues to remain financially
healthy, and is generally viewed as a
successful and credible sport.

HEAD OFFICE HUMAN RESOURCES

The quality of financial administration
continues to improve, both at head
office and regional level.

Head Office continues to optimally
structure its human resources to
maximise efficiency and service. While
being a relatively small HO, CSA
nonetheless prides itself on setting the
standard in sports administration in
South Africa.

In terms of performance monitoring,
HO introduced a new review component
enabling input from a number of
directions. This allows CSA to obtain
feedback as a service delivery from
more than the employee’s direct report.

HO remains committed to
embracing change in an effort to
constantly improve and to meet the
challenges of operating a dynamic
sport in a dynamic society.

To this end, organisation restructures
are embarked upon periodically to
ensure that HO’s departments are
aligned to best serve cricket.

RESTRUCTURING CSA

One of the most eventful features of the
year under review was the restructure
of South African cricket which will
formally take place at the Annual
General Meeting of 2008/09.

The implications of the restructure have
brought important new developments
not only for South African cricket, but
for sport in general.

It is this importance that has caused
me to spend some extra space in this
report to this subject.

During his first tenure as Chairperson
of Cricket South Africa’s Franchise
Review Committee, Professor Kader
Asmal became aware of the extent of
CSA’s amateur development
programme and the financial
challenges that faced its sustainability.

There were two critical factors that
governed these development funds:

• They came in the main from revenue
derived from professional cricket,
which fluctuates depending on the
television rights regarding tours into
South Africa in any particular year,
i.e. India touring and Zimbabwe
touring on the high and bottom end
of the TV interest scale.

• Under the legislation at the time
professional cricket net income was
subject to taxation, in the longer
term running into millions of Rand,
before one could fund amateur
cricket.

Professor Asmal and I had in-depth
discussions on the matter and
it was decided that we would approach
Finance Minister Trevor Manual
with a view to gaining some relief from
the unintended excessive taxing of
cricket monies that would ultimately
be going into development
programmes, mainly in previously
disadvantaged communities.

Finance Minister Manuel set up a
high-powered team from SARS to look
into the matter, and we appointed our
Chief Operating Officer, Don McIntosh,
to represent CSA.

The SARS team was most impressed
with CSA’s development programmes,
particularly the tight monitoring and
reporting processes that had been put
in place by CSA.

As a result, all sporting bodies which
have development programmes with
strict monitoring and reporting systems
can now amalgamate to enjoy the
benefit of this income tax amendment.

In CSA’s case this would mean
re-directing significant monies,
which would have gone to SARS as
tax, into development programmes.

To qualify CSA has to amalgamate
what are currently two separate legal
entities into one section 21 legal entity.

To assist in deciding the structure and
composition of the membership (ala
shareholders) and board directors of
this new section 21 entity, CSA
appointed its Legal and Governance
Committee to make recommendations
to General Council on how to go about
this and form new governance
structures.

The committee, under the chair of
attorney and General Council Member,
Mr Max Boqwana, submitted two
options for consideration to a joint
meeting last week of General Council
and the Board of Directors.

The meeting decided to implement the
following:

The section 21 Company requires an
association of members (ala
shareholders) and a Board of Directors.

The meeting agreed that the membership
of the Association should approximate
the former General Council and would
meet at least three times a year.
Voting rights would rest with only the
eleven Presidents of the affiliates.

The Association will comprise 20
members and they will be:

• 11 Provincial Presidents
• 1 Representative of Associate

Members
• 4 Office Bearers: President, Vice

President, Treasurer and CEO
• 3 Black African Representatives
• 1 Women’s Cricket Representative

The section 21 Company Board of
Directors will total 13, comprising:

• The President, Vice President and
Treasurer

• Three Board Directors appointed
from the voting members of the
Association

• Three independent Directors
appointed on the basis of requisite
skills, race and gender (including
geographical spread) and one of
whom will be nominated by the
SA Cricketers’ Association
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• Three additional directors,
nominated by the franchises and
appointed by the members

• The Chief Executive Officer of
the Company

The above structure will be in
place going forward from the CSA
Annual General Meeting to be held on
7 August 2008.

AUDITING AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE:

As can be seen from the above,
CSA places great store in good
corporate governance and the
proper auditing of its procedures
and structures.

The Chairperson of the Audit
Committee, Ms Thandi Orleyn, has
played a most significant role in this
regard at this critical time of change
for South African cricket.

Her committee was particularly
effective in resolving differences
between the offices of the President
and the Chief Executive Officer on
operations/policy issues.
Ms Orleyn was recently appointed to
the ICC Audit Committee and has
resigned as Independent Director of
the CSA Board. We wish her well in
her new position.

The annual financial statements are
being consolidated for the second
consecutive year which enables a big

picture view of South African
cricket. The internal audit function
continues to provide support to the
Audit Committee, both at head
office and in the regions.

ISO:

Cricket South Africa remains
ISO 9001 accredited in terms of
running a quality operation, making it
the only sporting body in South Africa
to achieve this. HO Managers are to
be congratulated on running such a
tight ship in their areas.

MOU BETWEEN CSA, SACA AND
THE FRANCHISES:

The year under review also saw the
finalisation of a Memorandum of
Understanding between CSA, the SA
Cricketers’ Association and the
CSA Franchises. This now
contributes greatly to structured and

stable relations with important
stakeholder groups.

FRANCHISE REVIEW:

CSA set up a Franchise Review
Committee under the chair of Professor
Kader Asmal to make findings and
recommendations to General Council
on the franchise system after four years
of operation.

After hearing and reading presentations
from stakeholders, the Committee

recommended to General Council that
the system be kept in place for the
forthcoming season and to allow the
Committee to further interrogate the
presentations and also to make relevant
site inspections. This was agreed to by
General Council and the Committee
will now make its findings and
recommendations in relation to the
2009/10 season.

EVENTING AND STADIA RELATIONS:

In the year under review, South Africa
continued to establish itself as an ideal
venue for hosting major international
cricket events.

The inaugural ICC T20 Championships
were held in September, and the ICC
described it as the most successful event
it had yet staged. This caught the
imagination of world cricket audiences
which set the scene for the advent of the
hugely popular Indian Premier League.

CSA also hosted the ICC Women’s
World Cup Qualifying tournament at
Stellenbosch, which was most successful
with the cherry on the top being South
Africa winning the event. One of the
key elements to the success of these
events is the good working relationship
between the ICC, CSA and its stadia.

To improve this even further, a very
productive two-day strategic stadia
workshop was held. This was well
attended by CSA head office
management, Affiliate Presidents,
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Mornè Morkel celebrates the wicket of Rahul Dravid for
17 runs during Day 3 of the second test match between
India and South Africa

Andre Nèl celebrates the wicket of Mohammad Ashraful
for a duck during the 2nd ODI match between Bangladesh
and South Africa



CEOs, CSA Board of Directors and
General Council Members.

INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS:

The international cricketing scene
remained as dynamic as ever,
with the rise of T20 cricket
causing a big stir on the field and in
the boardrooms.

The Zimbabwe issue also dominated
discussions, and came to a head with
the domestic situation worsening during
and after the general elections.
CSA President Norman Arendse,
SC, has dealt with these matters
elsewhere in this annual report.

It was also noteworthy that during the
year under review, South African
Cricket continued to provide world
cricket with able administrators.

Following the untimely death
of ICC President Sonn, Mr Ray Mali
was appointed ICC President.
Other appointments included:

• President Norman Arendse to the
ICC Executive Council

• CEO Gerald Majola to the ICC Chief
Executives Committee

• David Richardson as acting
ICC CEO

• Haroon Lorgat as ICC CEO
• Imtiaz Patel as the ICC’s original

choice for the post of CEO
• Thandi Orleyn, as a member of the

ICC Audit Committee
• Errol Stewart as a member of the

ICC commercial team
• Steve Elworthy as tournament

director of the ICC T20
Championship in England

• Vintcent van der Bijl, as Manager
ICC Umpires and Referees.

• Colleen Venning as events manager
for the inaugural Indian Premier
League

• Urvasi Naidoo, ICC Company
Secretary, as CEO of the
International Netball Federation

TRANSFORMATION:

During the year under review,
CSA’s Transformation Review Committee
received written and verbal presentation
from cricket’s stakeholders on the
transformation policies which are set
by General Council.

The following recommendations
from the committee, which was very
ably chaired by Mr John Smith,
were accepted:

1. CSA must focus on lobbying the
State and other stakeholders to
make possible the main thrust of

the transformation policy which is
to provide facilities, resources and
access in previously disadvantaged
communities, with particular
emphasis to black African areas,
as no sport has the resources to
achieve these goals on its own.

2. The existing targets applicable to
all levels of the game should remain
in existence at least until the end of
the 2010 season whereafter a
process should be put in place to
review them and make adjustments
which maintain the momentum of
the past decade towards more
equitable and representative cricket
demographics.

3. The selection of the national team
should be entrusted to the panel
of selectors.

4. The present system in terms of
which the President has the right
to veto the selected team should
be abolished.

5. The President and Board of
CSA should continue to be the
custodians of the transformation
policy insofar as the national
team is concerned and, in this
regard, should continue to
monitor the progress in achieving
acceptable levels of representivity
that will eventually reflect the
demographic makeup of the
country, but there should be a
change of process whereby the
CEO and Convenor of Selectors
are required to manage the
process and report regularly
to the CSA President/Board as
the ultimate oversight and
policy body.

6. CSA should, as soon as
possible, implement a process
which will ensure that selectors
are appointed on the basis of a
rigorous selection procedure to
ensure that they possess the
necessary experience,
expertise and knowledge of the
game and, additionally,
are trusted to ensure that the
team is representative and
reflects the broad ethos of
democratic South Africa
and the principles of CSA’s
transformation policy.

7. In order to promote the principles
of CSA's transformation policy,
the selection panel should include
black Africans.

8. In selecting the national
squad, the selectors shall
consult with and have

regard to the input of both the
coach and the captain.
The coach and convenor shall be
responsible for the selection of the
final eleven players to take the
field. The captain takes charge
once the playing eleven have
been selected.

9. CSA and the South African
Cricketers Association are
encouraged to initiate
programmes to educate and
engage professional players on
transformation so that this
important constituency can
be part of a united South African
cricket culture.

10. CSA should ensure clear
communication of the
transformation policy to avoid
confusion which has arisen
in the past.

11. CSA must in 2010 institute a
review of the recommended
changes implemented by CSA to
ensure their efficacy or otherwise.

12. The transformation review
committee will continue its mandate
and focus on other areas of
transformation.

The above recommendations
that were accepted graphically shows
that CSA remains committed to
targeted transformation at all
levels of the game, including
BEE initiatives.

The committee’s report also showed
conclusively that CSA’s transformation
programme is well on track, with a
special focus going to be placed on
the progress of Black Africans at all
levels of the game.

NATION BUILDING:

The successes of the development
programme, and those of the Proteas,
have made cricket into a major vehicle
for nation-building.

Independent research during the year
under review showed that public interest
in the Proteas has never been higher,
and cricket is rated as the second most
popular sport behind football.

Makhaya Ntini continued to be
voted the most popular sports star in
South Africa, the first cricketer to
achieve this rating.

Cricket has become the fastest growing
major sport in South Africa, and the
TV viewing ratings reached record
proportions for the sport.
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The successes of the
development
programme, and
those of the Proteas,
have made cricket
into a major vehicle
for nation-building

CSA’S VISION:

All aspects of this annual report are
aimed at achieving the vision of CSA:
to make cricket a truly national sport
of winners.

This has two elements to it:
• Making cricket a truly national sport

supported and accessed by the
majority of South Africans

• Making cricket a sport of winners
by pursuing excellence at all times

The huge support across the board is
an indication that the pursuit of our
vision is bearing fruit and that cricket
is taking its rightful place in the
advancement of the youth into the
leaders of tomorrow.

We wish to thank all stakeholders –

including players, match officials,
administrators, sponsors, suppliers,
the media and the public – for making
the year under review so successful for
South African cricket, and we look
forward to continuing “Operation
Teamwork” in the new season.

Captains Graeme Smith and Anil
Kumble sharing the Trophy during
Day 3 of the 3rd test match between
India and South Africa
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The SA team’s
performance in
Malaysia shows that
the talent acceleration
programme at U19
level is already
yielding results.

The South African team walk
onto the field before the ICC
U/19 Cricket World Cup Final

Bakers Mini
Cricket Mega
festival

Learner from Redhill during
the Standard Bank Pro20
coaching clinic held at the
Redhill School in Sandton



Amateur Cricket Making
Headway Cricket South Africa’s
vision is to make cricket a truly
national sport of winners and
its amateur programme is a
reflection of this vision.

The year under review saw the
consolidation of a pipeline from
grassroots (Bakers Mini Cricket) to the
top (Proteas), with amateur cricket the
main focus for the development and
growth of the game.

Another major breakthrough this past
year has been the new tax dispensation
for amateur cricket that was initiated
by CSA in conjunction with the
Minister of Finance. This dispensation
means a major shot in the arm for
amateur cricket by making more
funds available, especially for use in
rural and other previously
disadvantaged communities.

CSA has also established 54 Centres
of Excellence across South Africa,
resulting in the emergence of
better prepared players in the various
national talent acceleration
programmes. This past season,
Amateur Cricket spent up to R400 000
per Affiliate/Associate to ensure the
success of this important
operational infrastructure for
cricket development.

Schools Cricket: Bakers Mini
Cricket Turns 25

For more than 25 years, Bakers has
been the sole sponsor of softball cricket
in South Africa. To celebrate this
fantastic support, CSA and Bakers
staged a Bakers Mini Cricket Mega
festival for over 6000 children on
15 May 2008.

The hugely successful Mega festival,
which drew mass media coverage,
saw Bakers Mini Cricket being played
simultaneously at eight venues around
South Africa, setting the South African
Guinness World Record for the most
number of children playing cricket at
one time.

From Bakers Mini Cricket, players move
to the hard ball form of the game and
the pinnacle at this level are the six
annual national schools age-group
cricket weeks. These weeks allow young
cricketers to test their skills in a
competitive environment while
encouraged and supported to develop
their various strengths.

Standard Bank Under-13 Cricket Week:
First Step Up

The first level up from Bakers Mini
Cricket is Under-13 cricket. Standard
Bank is the sponsor of the U13 Week,
which has grown in popularity among
young cricketers.

This season, the Standard Bank U13
Week took place in Benoni,
with the matches played at the main
Oval at Willowmoore Park,
a major boost for the talented players
on show. Western Province was the
outstanding team at the Week.
Feedback from this year’s
tournament is that going forward
it is important that more work
must be done on tactical awareness
at this level.

PG Bison Under-15 Cricket Week:
Supporting Winning Partnerships

From under-13 cricket, players
move on to the under-15 level,
which is supported by PG Bison, for
whom, “supporting our young players
and helping to build winning
partnerships is the name of the game”.
This season, the PG Bison U15 Week
took place in Stellenbosch,
where Northerns proved to be
the best team, winning all their games.

Boys Under-17 & Girls Under-19
Cricket at National Schools
Summer Games

Both the Boys U17 and Girls U19
Weeks formed part of the National
Schools Summer games and
was well supported by the
Departments of Sport and Recreation,
and Education. KZN Inland was the
best team on view at the Boys U17
Week while Boland and
Western Province were the
outstanding teams, both
winning all their games, in the
Girls U19 Week.

Players Shine at Coca Cola Khaya
Majola Cricket Week

The Coca Cola Khaya Majola Week,
which took place in Johannesburg this
past season, has turned into a
showpiece for South African cricket.
Free State was the outstanding team
at this tournament and the SA School
selectors once again picked a talented
team that played against the Gauteng
Invitation X1.

These Cricket Weeks continue to
improve season after season and every
indication is that the standard of schools
cricket in South Africa is high. The
perceived problem of a lack of top
spinners is certainly not evident at this
level. Quality spinners were seen in
abundance at all the weeks.

Under-19 Cricket Leads the Way

While there are challenges in bridging
the gap between school and club
cricket, it’s encouraging to note the
state of the game at Under-19 level,
especially after the South African team
reached the final of the ICC U19
Cricket World Cup in Malaysia
earlier this year, far exceeding
original expectations.

The SA U19 team prepared for the
World Cup with matches against the
visiting Bangladesh and India U19
teams, and it was clear that they
seriously lacked international playing
opportunities. But the experience
toughened them up and they were far
more streetwise when they left for
Malaysia to compete in the ICC U19
Cricket World Cup.

The Gauteng Department of Sports,
Arts and Culture funded the final
preparation camp and send-off of the
SA U19 CWC Squad.
The system of Talent Scouts put in place
last year has contributed significantly
to accelerating the emergence of talent
within the U19 age group. The SA
team’s performance in Malaysia shows
that the talent acceleration programme
at U19 level is already yielding results.

Strengthening Link between School,
Tertiary and Club Cricket

While schools cricket is a vital cog in
the CSA pipeline, one of the challenges,
is how to strengthen the link between
school and club cricket.

Statistics show that many players
are lost after leaving school because
they do not have a new cricketing home
to go to. The pipeline shows that
school and club cricket are the
engine room of development and
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everyone has pushed hard at this during
the year under review.

Moving from school to senior
amateur cricket, there are a host of
programmes that support the further
development of our cricketers,
including Under-19 Cricket,
Women’s Cricket, Amateur Provincial
Competitions, Club Championships,
Cricket Weeks for those differently
abled, and Tertiary Weeks.

The respective Tertiary Weeks were
held at Pietermaritzburg (A Week)
and Vereeniging (B Week).
The general approach and attitude of
the teams within the B week was
gratifying as most of the teams
displayed a greater sense of team
identity and punctuality. This augurs
well for the growth and development
of the overall cricket within the mostly
rural cricket institutions.

The selected University Sport South
Africa (USSA) team played a series of
three 50 over matches against the
visiting MCC Centres’ of Excellence
Team that consists largely of Tertiary
Students in Cape Town between
14 -30 March 2008. The USSA XI
emerged as 2-1 winners of this series.
The only three day match ended
in a draw.

UJ Successfully Defend National Club
Championship

The National Club Championship was
held in Tshwane from 25-30 September
2007, owing to the preceding ICC World
Twenty20, hosted by South Africa.

University of Johannesburg became the
first team to successfully defend their
title in this event. The final was a repeat
of the 2006 fixture, Assupol TUKS
(209/9) and UJ (210/2). The standard
of cricket was generally high and all
of the teams were competitive. Nathan
Arthur of Griquas was voted as the
player of the week.

Cricket for the Differently Abled

CSA caters for both abled and disabled
cricketers and has programmes that
serve all.

North West Cricket Board in conjunction
with The North West Sport for the
Learning Disabled and North West
Department of Education delivered a
successful week of cricket for the
Intellectually Impaired Cricketers.
13 regions participated in a Gold
and Silver Section respectively.

KwaZulu-Natal emerged the winners
of the Gold Section and Limpopo the

victors in the Silver Section. A squad
of eighteen players were selected in
preparation of the World Cup for the
Intellectually Impaired that would be
held in Australia in March 2009.

Owing to the hands on approach of
NCU, this week has been growing in
stature. Transnet Rail Engineering
announced a five-year financial
contribution towards this week.
The participants were; Western
Province, Boland, KwaZulu-Natal,
Gauteng and Northerns.

This week was won by Northerns
Cricket Union Deaf Cricket. A squad
was announced to participate in the
Deaf Cricket World Cup that would be
in New Zealand in December 2009.

SAA Amateur Provincial Competition
Going Strong

The South African Airways Amateur
Provincial competitions continued to be
contested by 15 teams divided into
two streams. Griqualand West hosted
the SAA 3-day Challenge final at
the De Beers Diamond Oval in
Kimberley by virtue of a better points
average over JAG Western Province,
who won Pool A. Griqualand West
came out victorious by 42 runs inside
three days.

In the SAA One-Day Challenge
final at the Liberty Life Wanderers
Stadium in Johannesburg, Gauteng
Strikers got the better of Northerns,
winning by six wickets under the
Duckworth Lewis method.

Sincerely Supporting Development

Amateur Cricket continues to be
a work in progress. Every season
provides new opportunities to tweak
existing programmes with the aim of
ensuring better opportunities
for all South Africans to share the spirit
of cricket. The various successes
achieved, as outlined above, came
about through team work amongst
players, officials and support staff,
and this augurs well for the future of
CSA’s pipeline.

Boosting Rural Cricket

The Rural Cricket Association was
launched at a meeting with CSA CEO
Gerald Majola at the start of the
2006/2007 season. It was previously
known as the South African Country
Districts Association, started by cricket
lovers in the Western Cape in 1954.

The aims of the Rural Cricket
Association is to stimulate cricket in the
rural districts by providing annual

competitions at which representative
rural union teams can compete
against one another and from
which a South African Rural XI
can be selected.

It also aims to provide a meeting
ground for rural cricketers and
administrators where ideas can be
exchanged and policy for the good of
rural cricketers as a whole can be
discussed and laid before higher
cricketing authorities.

The Schools Rural U17 Week took place
in Klerksdorp this past season, and
brought in players from various parts
of the country. In future, talent scouts
will attend this Week to ensure that no
talent escapes the net.

The Senior Rural Cricket Week was
enlarged to accommodate Limpopo
Cricket Union, Mpumalanga Cricket
Union and Kei Cricket Board, and
consists of both a round robin
competition as well as a centralised
cricket week.

This Cricket Week was held in
Stellenbosch from 2 – 6 February 2008.
Boland West and Kwa Zulu Natal
Coastal contested the final which was
held in Empangeni on the 16th March
2008. Boland West continued the
traditional dominance of the Boland
teams in this competition and again
won the Rural Cricket Final,
away from home.

The SA Rural XI played a once off
match against the SA Forces XI on the
4th April 2008 in Skukuza, in the
Kruger National Park.

These competitions take place annually
and 14 affiliate teams take part,
catering for cricketers between the ages
of 19-35.

Rural cricket has become an important
feeder system to the affiliates, where
the players that have performed well
for the National Rural XI, have been
selected for their respective amateur XI
and the SuperSport Series XI.

The change in status during the year
under review has brought rural cricket
into the mainstream of the game.
This will bring new opportunities for
players and administrators to progress
and take their rightful place in South
African cricket.

It is also another indication of CSA’s
determination to leave no stone
unturned in the search for talent.
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Coca Cola Khaya Majola Cricket Week
Women’s Cricketer of the Year,
Cri-Zelda Brits and Kerri Laing,
President of CSA Women’s Cricket

Nathan Arthur, Club Champs and
Khaya Majola Amateur award winner



A major highlight this past
season was the
performance of the national
women’s team winning the
World Cup qualifier, and
qualifying for the ICC
Women’s Cricket World Cup
in Australia in 2009.

Victorious SA team during the ICC Womens World
Cup Qualifiers Final

The SA team celebrates another wicket during
the ICC Womens World Cup Qualifiers Final

Cri-Zelda Brits during the ICC Womens World
Cup Qualifier

Alicia Smith appeals for a wicket during the ICC
Womens World Cup Qualifiers Final



Women’s Cricket Soars

There are encouraging signs
that women’s cricket in South
Africa is moving in the right
direction, and the talent being
unearthed around the country
is contributing to the improved
standards at both domestic and
international level.

A major highlight this past season was
the performance of the national
women’s team winning the World Cup
qualifier, and qualifying for the ICC
Women’s Cricket World Cup in
Australia in 2009. The qualifier was
staged by Cricket South Africa (CSA)
in Stellenbosch in February 2008, and
the team was unbeaten throughout the
tournament, going on to beat Pakistan
in the final.

The national team has also been
boosted by more regular competition,
and conditioning has become one of

the key criteria for national selection.
Currently, the team is ranked 7th in the
world, a ranking determined by their
finishing at the last World Cup four
years ago.

The national team’s 2009 ICC Women’s
World Cup goal is to firstly qualify for
the Super 6 stage, which means
finishing at least third in their pool,
which includes Australia, New Zealand,
and West Indies. The next goals would
be to qualify for the semi-final stage,
which would guarantee the team a top
four finish.

The team is led by Cri-Zelda Brits from
the North West, who was named
CSA Women’s Cricketer of the
Year at the 2008 Mutual & Federal SA
Cricket Awards in June this year
following an outstanding season, both
with the bat, and as a leader.
She has earned the respect of all the
players through her determination and
consistent performances.

Overall, CSA’s cricket programme
for women made encouraging
adjustments last season, among these
was a decision to phase in a
strength-versus-strength domestic
competition, with an initial round of
league cricket played to determine the
top six and bottom eight teams.

Teams qualifying for the Super Six
League carried forward points earned
in the round-robin league,
with Boland going on to win the
inaugural title. The bottom eight teams
played in a week-long IPT,
which was won by Western Province.

Women’s Cricket in South Africa is
passionately run by a four-member
committee; Kerri Laing (President),
Zola Thamae (Vice President),
Noor Rhode (Secretary), and
Amy Connelly (Treasurer), who
continuously seek ways in which to
further improve the state of the women’s
game in SA.

WOMEN’S CRICKET



The Academy aims
to keep abreast with
the latest technical
developments in
other cricketing
countries and update
SA’s coaching system

High Performance
centre in Pretoria.

Grant Morgan (Coach) and Matthew Arnold
during the South Africa media day held at
Standard Bank National Cricket Academy
at the High Performance centre in Pretoria.



The CSA pipeline is firmly
established and the respective
player pathways in South
Africa compare favourably with
the long-term athlete
development (LTAD) model;
from the mass participation
level through the progressive
stages of skills development to
the retirement phase or
retention of players in roles as
officials, coaches or
administrators.

The coaching focus in 2007/2008
centred on greater experiential
learning both on and off the field
following the integration of Cricket
South Africa’s  various player/coach
development programmes and aligning
the respective components the
previous season.

The coaching department worked
towards creating additional
opportunities for players and coaches
to further enhance their skills so that
the vital cricket pipeline is ultimately
self-sustainable.

The new four-year plan provides the
parameters for the implementation and
execution of programmes with the vision
simply to make South African cricket
a truly national sport of winners.

COACHING THE COACHES

The objectives of the Bakers Coaches
Academy are to co-ordinate and
control the training, qualification and
certification of cricket coaches.
The Academy aims to keep abreast
with the latest technical developments
in other cricketing countries and
update SA’s coaching system, monitor

the criteria of the various coaching
levels in order to maintain uniformity,
broaden the base by coaching new
coaches, and supply quality coaches
to the system.

The importance of the Provincial
Coaching Managers’ meetings at the
start and end of a season and the role
it plays in the successful delivery of
regional coaching courses must not be
underestimated.

CSA’s Manager: Coaching, Anton
Ferreira, was appointed to the
International Cricket Council’s Coach
Education Advisory Panel (CEAP) and
attended a two-day workshop in Dubai
during May 2007 where a Coach
Education Benchmarking Programme
was launched to determine minimum
requirements and benchmarks.

The Bakers Review Panel meets on a
regular basis to revise the Bakers
coaching courses at  various levels and
update relevant course structure and
content, resource material, examination
papers and practical assessment of

coaches. To this extent, the panel has
recently made numerous changes and
additions to the ‘new’ course that was
only introduced at the end of 2005.

BAKERS LEVEL III
(SENIOR CERTIFICATE)

Following a number of regional
refresher courses in 2005 and 2006
that involved approximately 180
qualified Level III coaches the senior
certificate course was again held last
year. 31 candidates attended the course
at the HPC in Pretoria from 6th to 9th
September, including former Test

cricketers Gary Kirsten and Daryll
Cullinan. This four-day programme
was a huge success and the input by
Gary and Daryll contributed towards
an incredibly informative and most
enjoyable course.

COACHING FORUMS

The annual Senior Coaches’ Forum
was held at the HPC from 17-19
July 2007 and focused on Personal
Growth & Self-Management. Topics
such as cultural diversity, respecting
differences, and time management
were also discussed.

The coaches also received feedback
about the progress of their players at
the Standard Bank National Cricket
Academy and provision was made for
contact sessions with the coaches and
specialists who work with the Academy
squad, while the National Coach had
the opportunity to address the forum
on the Proteas Vision and Strategy.
A new initiative resulted in highly
respected coaches from other sports

codes such as rugby and golf addressing
the coaches on various aspects success
elements and purposeful training.

The evening coaching forums for
age-group coaches have now become
a permanent feature at the annual
national tournaments in December.

A successful and well-attended forum
was also held in Tzaneen on Tuesday
27th November after a request to assist
with the preparation of the Limpopo
provincial junior coaches prior to them
attending the tournaments above.
Further support was offered to the
ACA during July when a presentation
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Mthokozisi Shezi training at
the High Performance Centre.

Richard Das Neves and Bradley
Barnes during the South Africa media
day held at Standard Bank National
Cricket Academy.



on ‘Junior Pathways and
Competitions’ was done to the African
delegates attending the annual
conference in Boksburg.

COACHING RESOURCES:
NEW MATERIAL

This past year, articles in electronic
format, spin bowling DVD’s and CD’s,
a motivational DVD and the revised
Bakers Level III resource CD were given
to various provinces.

Distribution of 5000 copies of the

Essential Cricket Drills CD,
containing over 100 practical drills,
is underway and should add greatly
to any coach’s library.

BAKERS MINI CRICKET SEMINAR

The annual Bakers Mini Cricket seminar
was held in Stellenbosch and the theme
was ‘The Heartbeat of SA Cricket’.
A coaching presentation
outlining the link between BMC and
the rest of the cricket pipeline was
presented to the 110 delegates.

Elite Player Development
Programme – Standard Bank National
Cricket Academy

The success of the Standard Bank
National Academy programme is well
documented and the overall value to

South African cricket is common
knowledge.

The passionate and disciplined
Ray Jennings took charge of his first
Academy squad as head coach and
he was most ably assisted by Rafeek
Ismail of Free State and Grant Morgan
of Northerns. Together, they moulded
a close playing unit and achieved
remarkable results with the group of
players in a matter of months.

Players from the 2005 squad who have
subsequently joined fellow ‘graduate’
Mornè Morkel in the international ranks

in the past twelve months are Thandi
Tshabalala and Vernon Philander, while
Loots Bosman, who first attended the
Academy in 1997, Alviro Petersen and
Gulam Bodi swelled that honours list
even further.

Academy graduates continue to make
their mark on the domestic scene and
the past season’s statistics reflect
favourably on past candidates. As with
previous intakes, a number of the 2007
squad members forced their way into
their provincial and franchise teams
during the summer and produced
noteworthy performances.

CSA continues to receive
unbelievable support from Standard
Bank, Sport and Recreation
South Africa and the National Lottery,
who all help make the Academy the
success that is and allows it to operate

from this world-class facility of the
University of Pretoria.

STANDARD BANK HIGH
PERFORMANCE CRICKET
PROGRAMME

The High Performance Programme
(HPP) is made possible by the
ongoing support of Standard Bank,
and the aim of the programme is to
supply a representative stream of
talented players ripe for test and
ODI selection. The class of 2007
did just that!

Of the 14 cricketers that featured in
the Emerging Player’s team’s
successful defence of the 2007
quadrangular tournament in Australia,
which also featured India, New
Zealand, and the hosts, eight were
subsequently picked  to play for the
Proteas and a further four were called
up for the SA A team. Nine of these
12 players chosen for the Protea and
SA ‘A’ teams were black players.

Former Proteas captain Kepler Wessels
and National selector and former
Proteas player Shafiek Abrahams took
control of the side in Australia, moulding
them into a highly effective unit.

The tour catapulted a number of players
into the Proteas team; noticeably Mornè
Morkel, in all three forms of the game
and JP Duminy in the ODI and Pro 20
team, while Johan Botha rebuilt his
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confidence in his action and
performance, and regained his position
in the ODI and Pro20 team.

The HP programme is designed to
encourage each player to be totally
accountable for their lives, show them
that “winning is the science of being
totally prepared”, and help them
understand that preparation, work ethic,
understanding of self and their inner
drive that will ultimately bring
them success.

The other sporting codes
involvement provided new insight

and were genuine highlights.
Heyneke Meyer (coach of the
Blue Bulls, winners of the 2007 Super
14, Ryk Neethling (Swimming
Olympic gold medal holder) and
David Useenhoff (professional golfer
and TV presenter) integrated into our
programme perfectly.

The new extended camps and
programmes allowed for the
expansion of the holistic approach to
the game, building the player on and
off the field. Emotional intelligence,
mental strength, understanding self,
as well as having the tactical and
technical understanding will help
unlock the amazing talent of
the players.

The 2007 programme included a
two week May camp, a pre-emerging
tour July camp, and  August
specialist camps.

THE HP MEDICAL SYMPOSIUM

The High Performance unit
planned a two day medical
symposium through the chairman of
the CSA medical committee,
Dr Shuaib Manjra, Dr Mohammed
Moosajee, the former Proteas
doctor and Janine Gray,
the HP fitness consultant.

This annual event was attended by
franchise physiotherapists and fitness
trainers. Proteas fitness trainer,
Grant Compton, laid out his plans
for the season.

THE SPINNING PROGRAMME

The spinning programme is run by
National spinning co-ordinator Shafiek
Abrahams, and is specifically designed
to help bridge the gap between school
and the professional ranks, using former
spinners to act as proper mentors.

The simple concept is to work with the
existing structures of captains and
coaches at all levels and not to become
the technical coach. Anything technical
will be done through the coach and
the player. The role is simply to nurture
and shepherd the spinner.
University of Fort Hare initiative
Former Proteas fast bowler,
Mfuneko Ngam, was appointed
coaching manager of the Alice region,
based at the University of Fort Hare.
This is a CSA initiative, developed in
conjunction with the Border Cricket
Board and the UFH,

and made possible through the
support of LOTTO.

This initiative is based at the Krish
Mackerdhuj Indoor Centre at the
University and is designed to boost
cricket in the area and provide the
talented cricketers an academic and
cricket pipeline to the Proteas.

Ngam’s role is to co-ordinate the
development of cricket in Alice,
Middledrift, Healdtown, Fort Beaufort
and at the UFH. He will coach the first
men’s and women’s cricket team at
UFH, run the UFH academy and

regional emerging squad, prepare the
UFH team for the SASSU week, coach
the regional elite age groups chosen from
Healdtown, Alice and Middledrift, and
assist in the talent ID of the young talent.

He will also run the coaches forums at
Alice, Healdtown, Middledrift and the
levels 1 and 2 coaching courses in the
area, which will include the running of
courses for the University students.

CLOSE OF PLAY

The HP programme is a natural extension
of all the CSA structures and relies on
the efficiency, the drive and the expertise
of the whole CSA pipeline system from
Bakers cricket through to the Proteas.

The HP programme provides the tools
to let the players reach past their grasp
and reach their cricket heaven.
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Distribution of
5000 copies of the
Essential Cricket
Drills CD,
containing over
100 practical drills,
is underway
and should add
greatly to any
coach’s library.

2008 National Academy Squad Training at the High Performance Centre.



The Gestetner
Diamond Eagles and
the Nashua Titans
were the dominant
forces in South
African professional
cricket during the
2007-08 season.

Nashua Titans win the MTN Domestic Championship

Gestetner Diamond Eagles win the SuperSport Series

Nashua Titans win the Pro20 Seriers



The Gestetner Diamond Eagles
and the Nashua Titans were
the dominant forces in South
African professional cricket
during the 2007-08 season.
Between them they won all
three trophies at stake and not
surprisingly their two head
coaches, Richard Pybus of the
Nashua Titans and Corrie van
Zyl of the Gestetner Diamond
Eagles, were the two nominees
for the coach of the year at the
Mutual & Federal SA Cricket
awards banquet.

The Gestetner Diamond Eagles were
convincing winners of the SuperSport
Series, having a margin of 19.40 points
over the second-placed Chevrolet
Warriors and also reached the
semi-finals of both the MTN Domestic

Championship and the Standard Bank
Pro20 competition.

The Nashua Titans, the defending
champions in the SuperSport Series,
finished a disappointing fifth (with only
one victory) in the four-day competition
but then finished the season very strongly
by winning both the MTN Championship
and the Standard Bank Pro20.

They were matched against the
Nashua Cape Cobras in both their
semi-finals with the home match in the
MTN Domestic Championship being
washed out, allowing the higher
placed Nashua Titans to proceed to
the final, having topped the log by a
convincing 16 points, but pulled off a
memorable victory against the
Nashua Cape Cobras at Sahara Park
Newlands in the Standard Bank
Pro20 competition.

This latter match was one of the
highlights of the South African domestic
season as all the nationally contracted
players were available and the majority
are contracted to the two franchises.

What was particularly encouraging was
the amount of emerging talent in this
match that more than held its own
against the established stars.
This included a crucial innings of 32 not
out off only 18 balls by Farhaan
Behardien after Faf du Plessis had given
the Nashua Titans innings its initial
momentum. Then Roelof van der Merwe,
the find of the season, took 2/27 in his
four overs and also pulled off the brilliant
direct hit run out that accounted for
national captain Graeme Smith.

In the end the Nashua Cape Cobras
needed six runs off the last ball to earn

a tie and progress through
to the final on superior log
position but Van der
Merwe held his nerve and
it said a lot for this rookie
that captain Pierre Joubert
entrusted him with the last
over under such
circumstances.

Another unsung hero in
the Standard Bank Pro20
was left-arm swing
bowler, Yusuf Abdullah,
who played a major role
in the Nashua Dolphins
route to a home final.
He took 1/12 in the semi-
final and did even better
with his 1/8 in the final.

Van der Merwe’s strike
rate of 133.33 with the
bat put him up in the same
league as acknowledged
Pro20 specialists Loots

Bosman of the Gestetner Diamond
Eagles (143.57) and Albie Morkel of
the Nashua Titans (127.73).
Van der Merwe also finished third
among the wicket-takers (13) behind
Ethy Mbhalati of the Nashua Titans
(14) and Charl Langeveldt of the
Nashua Cape Cobras (18). Langeveldt
had an incredible average of 6.66 and
an economy rate of 5.21 – exceptional
for this format of the game.

In the MTN Domestic Championship
final the Nashua Titans scored a
relatively comfortable victory by
38 runs over the Chevrolet Warriors
with Van der Merwe again playing a
major role with 52 runs off 58 balls
and bowling figures of 4/42.
One of the features of this competition
was the match-winning spell of Robbie
Peterson of the Chevrolet Warriors who
took 7/24 in 7.2 overs in the

semi-final victory over the Gestetner
Diamond Eagles.

In the SuperSport Series the Gestetner
Diamond Eagles won five of their 10
matches outright while there was a
keen tussle for second place between
the Chevrolet Warriors, the Nashua
Cape Cobras and the Nashua Dolphins
who all recorded three outright victories.

The Nashua Titans only victory
coincided with the solitary appearance
of national spearhead Dale Steyn who
took an incredible 14 wickets against
the Gestetner Diamond Eagles. The
bizhub Highveld Lions had a
disappointing season and failed to
record an outright victory.

The Nashua Cape Cobras provided
both the batsman with the highest
average (JP Duminy) as well as the
leading runs scorer in Henry Davids
who was the only player to top 800
runs. Davids was the leading centurion
with three three-figures scores, a
performance matched by Ahmed Amla
of the Nashua Dolphins and
Boeta Dippenaar of the Gestetner
Diamond Eagles.

Dillon du Preez of the Gestetner
Diamond Eagles was the leading
wicket-taker with 55 dismissals,
one ahead of Monde Zondeki of the
Nashua Cape Cobras.

What was very encouraging was the
continued development of young
players such as Stiaan van Zyl of the
Nashua Cape Cobras (554 runs at
50.36), Faf du Plessis of the Nashua
Titans (590 runs at 39.33) and Dean
Elgar of the Gestetner Diamond Eagles
(638 runs at 41.48) with the bat.

Young bowlers to impress were
Lonwabo Tstotsobe of the Chevrolet
Warriors (39 wickets at 24.28) and CJ
de Villiers of the Gestetner Diamond
Eagles (29 wickets at 22.79).

Vernon Philander of the Nashua Cape
Cobras was the leading all-rounder
(173 runs at 43.25 and 29 wickets
at 16.13).

For the first time since unity the
Zimbabwe Chevrons took part in the
two limited overs competitions and
showed encouraging improvement.

What was also a heartening reflection
on the standard of the South African
domestic game was the fact that the
South Africa A side won both its
four-day matches against the touring
teams from New Zealand and the West
Indies and also held their own on their
tour of India.
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Davy Jacobs and Juan Theron celebrate
the wicket of Andrew Puttick during the
MTN Domestic Championship.

Charl Langeveldt celebrates the
wicket of Roger Telemachus during
the Standard Bank Pro20

Monde Zondeki in
action during the
SuperSport Series match
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SUPERSPORT SERIES 2007/08

P W L Tied D Bat Bowl Penalty Pts
Gestetner Diamond Eagles 10 5 1 0 4 30.52 37 0 117.52
Chevrolet Warriors 10 3 2 0 5 33.12 35 0 98.12
Nashua Cape Cobras 10 3 2 0 5 25.66 36 0 91.66
Nashua Dolphins 10 3 3 0 4 24.30 31 2 83.30
Nashua Titans 10 1 3 0 6 23.18 35 0 68.18
bizhub Highveld Lions 10 0 4 0 6 24.94 33 0 57.94

STANDARD BANK PRO20 2007/08

P W L Tied NR Bonus Penalty Pts Net RR
Cape Cobras 6 5 0 0 1 2 0 24 1.38
Dolphins 6 4 2 0 0 2 0 18 0.36
Gestetner Diamond Eagles 6 3 2 1 0 2 0 16 0.84
Titans 6 3 3 0 0 2 0 14 0.11
bizhub Highveld Lions 6 1 3 1 1 1 0 9 0.00
Zimbabwe Chevrons 6 2 4 0 0 0 0 8 -1.84
Chevrolet Warriors 6 1 5 0 0 0 0 4 -0.61

Semi-finals Dolphins beat Eagles.
Titans beat Cape Cobras.

Final Titans beat Dolphins.

MTN DOMESTIC CHAMPIONSHIP 2007/08

P W L Tied NR Bonus Penalty Pts Net RR
Nashua Titans 12 9 1 1 1 4 0 44 0.73
Chevrolet Warriors 12 6 5 1 0 2 0 28 -0.22
Gestetner Diamond Eagles 12 6 6 0 0 3 0 27 0.17
Nashua Cape Cobras 12 6 6 0 0 2 0 26 -0.04
Nashua Dolphins 12 5 6 0 1 4 0 26 0.45
Zimbabwe Chevrons 12 5 7 0 0 0 0 20 -0.22
bizhub Highveld Lions 12 3 9 0 0 0 0 12 -0.80

Cape Cobras finish ahead of Dolphins by virtue of more wins.

Semi-finals Titans v Cape Cobras abandoned without a ball bowled.
Titans advance due to superior log position.

Warriors beat Eagles.

Final Titans beat Warriors.



The Proteas, can look back
on an outstanding year in
which they won 30 out of
39 matches in all three
formats of the game

South Africa with the trophy during the 3rd ODI match
between Bangladesh and South Africa.

Mornè Morkel celebrates the wicket of Rahul Dravid for 17 runs during
Day 3 of the second test match between India and South Africa

Mohammad Ashraful caught by Hashim Amla off the bowling of Albie
Morkel for 9 runs during the 3rd ODI match between Bangladesh.

Protea team with the series Trophy during day 4 of the
2nd test match between Bangladesh and South Africa



The Proteas, the standard
bearers of South Africa’s core
business, can look back on an
outstanding year in which they
won 30 out of 39 matches in
all three formats of the game
– Test match, ODI and Pro20 –
regained the world No. 1
ranking that they had briefly
held just prior to last year’s
World Cup on the Reliance
Mobile ODI ratings and
continued their upward
mobility on the Test ratings to
No 3 behind India and world
leaders Australia.

Their Test series wins against New
Zealand and the West Indies (home)
and Pakistan and Bangladesh (away)
meant that they had won six successive
Test series before they drew their most
recent away series in India.

The breakdown of the matches they
played in the three formats of the game
is as follows:

TEST CRICKET:
played 12, won 8, lost 2, drawn 2

ODI CRICKET:
played 19, won 16, lost 3

PRO20 CRICKET:
played 8, won 6, lost 2

The only blot on their record was their
failure to reach the knock-out stages
of the inaugural ICC T20 world
championship. In this they were unlucky
as they only lost one game which was
a better record in the pool and
Super Six phases than several of the
semi-finalists managed.

Individually, it was also a year of fine
achievement, pride of place going to
the two world records established by

wicketkeeper Mark Boucher – the
first man to claim 400 Test match
dismissals – and by the first wicket
partnership record between Graeme
Smith and Neil McKenzie.

Smith also equalled Hansie Cronje’s
record of the most Test match
victories as South African captain
and finished the period under review
as the No. 1 ranked ODI batsman
in the world.

On the Test match rankings
Jacques Kallis was unchallenged
as the best all-rounder and also
occupied the No. 2 batting position at
various times while Dale Steyn briefly
was ranked joint No. 1 bowler with
Muttiah Muralitharan before finishing
the Indian tour as the world No. 2
but still the world’s leading bowler
of his type.

Steyn took 78 wickets in the Proteas’
12 Test matches including eight five-
wicket hauls and two of 10. Kallis made
six centuries in the same number of
matches to become the first South
African to score 30 centuries at the
highest level of the game and to get
close to joining the elite list of those
who have scored 10 000 Test runs.

Smith and Hashim Amla made three
Test centuries each and in all the Proteas
top six were responsible for 17 Test
match centuries while Ashwell Prince
(run out on 98 at Sahara Park
Newlands against the West Indies) and
McKenzie also reached the 90s.

The breakdown of centuries was: Smith
(3), McKenzie (2), Amla (3), Kallis (6),
Prince (1) and De Villiers (2).

Smith, McKenzie and De Villiers all
scored Test double centuries and Amla
might have joined them but for the

necessity of a declaration at the
Liberty Life Wanderers Stadium against
New Zealand. Smith has now scored
four Test double centuries which is one
more than the record he previously
shared with Gary Kirsten.

Another feature was the number of
major partnerships. Kallis and Amla
put on 170 against Pakistan at Karachi,
330 against New Zealand at Liberty
Life Wanderers Stadium and 220
against New Zealand at SuperSport
Park. These were all for the third wicket
in the space of four Test matches.

Smith and McKenzie broke a world
record that had stood for more than
50 years when they put on 415 for the
first wicket against Bangladesh at
Chittagong while Kallis and De Villiers
shared a fifth wicket stand of 256
against India at Ahmedabad.

Other noteworthy contributions were
the second wicket stand of 199 between
Smith and Amla against the West Indies
at Sahara Stadium Kingsmead and the
unbroken fifth wicket stand of 182
between De Villiers and Prince in the
same innings.

It is also worth recording that only a
declaration stopped South Africa
scoring 500 runs in the first innings in
successive Test matches in India, an
unprecedented achievement in Cricket
South Africa’s history.

Steyn was obviously the dominant
bowler – he won three man of the series
awards in a row – but it is worth
recording that Paul Harris (against
Pakistan at Karachi) and Mornè Morkel
(against Bangladesh at Dhakar)
took their maiden five-wicket hauls
in Test cricket.

As a unit the bowling attack was seen
at its best when India were routed for
76 in 20 overs after India had won the
toss on the first morning of the
Ahmedabad Test. South Africa actually
batted for an over before lunch!

Almost as good was the performance
of bowling the West Indies out for 139
in 34.3 overs on the first morning and
early afternoon at Sahara Stadium
Kingsmead. It was fitting that Shaun
Pollock should have the best return of
4/35 in this innings in the final Test of
his magnificent career.

It was the start of a moving last month
of international cricket for one of South
Africa’s great sons in every respect and
the farewell he was given around the
country by Media and fans alike in his
final five ODIs was possibly the abiding
memory of a glorious summer.
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Neil McKenzie and Graeme Smith set a world record opening
partnership in Tests of 415 v Bangladesh  at Chittagong, passing
the 413 by Vinoo Mankad and Pankaj Roy for India v New Zealand
at Madras in 1955/56.

Mark Boucher passed the record for most Test dismissals by a
wicket-keeper twice: He passed Ian Healy  (395) v Pakistan at
Karachi and then passed Adam Gilchrist (416) v Bangladesh at Mirpur.

Dale Steyn took his 100th wicket in his 20th Test v Bangladesh at
Chittagong. This is the fewest Tests for a South African to reach 100
wickets, beating the record of 22 by Hugh Tayfield and Allan Donald.

Albie Morkel and AB de Villiers set a South African ODI 3rd
wicket partnership record of 186 v Zimbabwe at Harare.

Jacques Kallis became the 4th South African and 2nd since
re-admission after Gary Kirsten to score 2 centuries in a
Test when he made 155 & 100* v Pakistan at Karachi.

Herschelle Gibbs reaches 7000 runs in ODI cricket.
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SA INTERNATIONAL MILESTONES
1 June 2007 to 30 April 2008

TEST CRICKET

CSA/Castle Lager Milestone Programme achievements:

Platinum Jacques Kallis 125 catches v India (Ahmedabad)

Gold None

Silver Graeme Smith 5000 runs v Bangladesh (Chittagong)
Graeme Smith 75 catches v West Indies (Durban)

Bronze Mark Boucher 4000 runs v West Indies (Port Elizabeth)
Andrè Nel 100 wickets v Pakistan (Karachi)
Dale Steyn 100 wickets v Bangladesh (Chittagong)

RECORDS

• Mark Boucher passed the record for most Test dismissals by a wicket-keeper twice: He passed Ian Healy  (395) v
Pakistan at Karachi and then passed Adam Gilchrist (416) v Bangladesh at Mirpur.

• Jacques Kallis became the 4th South African and 2nd since re-admission after Gary Kirsten to score 2 centuries in a
Test when he made 155 & 100* v Pakistan at Karachi.

• Jacques Kallis became the 1st South African to make a score of fifty or more in 9 consecutive Tests.

• Neil McKenzie and Graeme Smith set a world record opening partnership in Tests of 415 v Bangladesh  at Chittagong,
passing the 413 by Vinoo Mankad and Pankaj Roy for India v New Zealand at Madras in 1955/56.

• Dale Steyn took his 100th wicket in his 20th Test v Bangladesh at Chittagong. This is the fewest Tests for a South African
to reach 100 wickets, beating the record of 22 by Hugh Tayfield and Allan Donald.

• Graeme Smith became the 2nd youngest player to score 5000 Test runs after Sachin Tendulkar (India) in the match v
India at Cape Town, aged 27 years, 28 days. Tendulkar was aged 25 years, 301 days  when he reached the milestone.

• Graeme Smith passed Hansie Cronje's South African record of 53 Test captaincies v Bangladesh at Chittagong.

ONE-DAY INTERNATIONALS

CSA/Standard Bank Milestone Programme achievements:

Platinum None

Gold Herschelle Gibbs 7000 runs v Pakistan (Faisalabad)
Jacques Kallis 100 catches v India (Belfast)
Shaun Pollock 300 matches v West Indies (Cape Town)

Silver Graeme Smith 5000 runs v Bangladesh (Mirpur)

Bronze Andrè Nel 100 wickets v Bangladesh (Chittagong)

RECORDS

• Albie Morkel and AB de Villiers set a South African ODI 3rd wicket partnership record of 186 v Zimbabwe at Harare.



DALE STEYN TAKES FOUR!

Following an outstanding
season, Proteas and Nashua
Titans fast bowler Dale Steyn
was richly rewarded at the fifth
Mutual & Federal SA Cricket
Awards, held on the 17th June
at a gala banquet in
Johannesburg. The Phalaborwa
Express won all four awards
for which he was nominated,
including the prestigious Mutual
& Federal SA Cricketer of the
Year. He was also named Castle
Test Cricketer of the Year, SA
Players’ Player of the Year and
the SuperSport Fans Cricketer
of the Year.

The other winners in the Proteas category
were Graeme Smith who was named

Standard Bank One-Day International
Cricketer of the Year and Albie Morkel
who won Standard Bank International
Pro20 Cricketer of the Year.

A feature of all the international award
winners was the standard of excellence
they achieved on the world stage.
Steyn took 78 wickets in 12 Tests and
at one stage was ranked the No 1
bowler in the world on the ICC Test
rankings, before finishing the season
at No 2. Graeme Smith ended the
season as the No 1 batsman on the
ICC ODI rankings and Albie Morkel
was the second most successful
all-rounder at the recently completed
inaugural Indian Premier League.

The Mutual & Federal SA Cricketer of
the Year award has become the most
prestigious reward of individual

achievement in South African cricket
and Steyn follows an impressive list of
previous winners in Jacques Kallis
(2004), Makhaya Ntini (2005 and
2006) and Shaun Pollock (2007).

Pollock in his final year of international
cricket proved to be a wonderful brand
ambassador for the Mutual & Federal
awards and particularly for all the
associated programmes they support.
Through the “Wishes for Wickets”
and “Rands for Runs” sponsorship from
Mutual & Federal, Shaun raised
R91 800 during the past season with
his performance on the cricket field,
which will be donated to the
Reach for a Dream foundation.
The John Wesley School in Pinetown
will receive a scoreboard and cricket
mat, donated by Mutual & Federal on
behalf of Pollock.

Steyn took 78
wickets in 12 Tests
and at one stage
was ranked the
No 1 bowler in the
world on the
ICC Test rankings

Jonty Rhodes and Standard Bank ODI
Cricketer of the Year, Graeme Smith

Dale Steyn at the M&F SA Cricket Awards
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Merrick Oeschger (Executive General Manager,
Mutual & Federal), SA Cricketer of the Year Dale
Steyn, Adv Norman Arendse (President, CSA) and
Vince van der Bijl (Convenor, CSA Awards panel)
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  AMATEUR AWARDS

PG Bison U15 Player of the Tournament Johann van der Merwe Gauteng
U17 Player of the Tournament Bokang Mosena Free State
Coca-Cola Khaya Majola U19 Player of the Tournament Wayne Parnell Eastern Province
CSA U19 Cricketer of the Year Wayne Parnell Eastern Province
Student Cricketer of the Year Chad Baxter Eastern Province
Club Championships Player of the Tournament Nathan Arthur Griqualand West
Rural Cricketer of the Year Jaco O’Kelly Gauteng
Deaf Cricketer of the Year Stephen Lombard Northerns
Intellectually Impaired Cricketer of the Year Lee Benting Boland
SAA Provincial Amateur Cricketer of the Year Wendell Bossenger Griqualand West
CSA Women’s Cricketer of the Year Cri-Zelda Brits North West
Khaya Majola Amateur Cricket Award Nathan Arthur Griqualand West
Bakers Administrator of the Year Helene van der Riet Griqualand West

  PROFESSIONAL AWARDS

OPERATIONS
Mutual & Federal Coach of the Year Corrie van Zyl Gestetner Diamond Eagles
Mutual & Federal Scorers Association of the Year Gauteng
Mutual & Federal Umpire of the Year Brian Jerling

DOMESTIC
SACA Most Valuable Player Johann Louw Nashua Dolphins
MTN Domestic Championship Cricketer of the Year Juan Theron Chevrolet Warriors
Standard Bank Pro20 Cricketer of the Year Charl Langeveldt Nashua Cape Cobras
SuperSport Series Cricketer of the Year Monde Zondeki Nashua Cape Cobras
Domestic Newcomer of the Year Roelof van der Merwe Nashua Titans
Domestic Players’ Player of the Year Dillon du Preez Gestetner Diamond Eagles

SA INTERNATIONAL
Standard Bank ODI Cricketer of the Year Graeme Smith
Standard Bank International Pro20 Cricketer of the Year Albie Morkel
Castle Test Cricketer of the Year Dale Steyn
SA Players’ Player of the Year Dale Steyn
SuperSport Fans Cricketer of the Year Dale Steyn
Mutual & Federal SA Cricketer of the Year Dale Steyn

2008 MUTUAL & FEDERAL SA CRICKET AWARDS

On the local scene, the bowlers made
an impact in the Domestic Awards
category, with the Nashua Cape
Cobras providing two winners in Charl
Langeveldt who was named Standard
Bank Pro20 Cricketer of the Year and
Monde Zondeki, the SuperSport Series
Cricketer of the Year. “Juan” Rusty
Theron of the Chevrolet Warriors was
the winner of the MTN Domestic
Championship Cricketer of the Year
and the Nashua Titans’ Roelof van der
Merwe was named Domestic
Newcomer of the Year.

The inaugural SACA Most Valuable
Player award went to Johann Louw of
the Nashua Dolphins and the franchise
players voted for Dillon du Preez of the
Gestetner Diamond Eagles as their
Domestic Players’ Player of the Year.

In the Operations category Brian Jerling
was named Mutual & Federal Umpire
of the Year, and Corrie van Zyl of the
Gestetner Diamond Eagles the Mutual
& Federal Coach of the Year, both
winning their second Mutual & Federal
Awards. The Gauteng Scorers

Association won the Mutual & Federal
Scorers Association of the Year for the
fourth time in five years.

The two big winners in the Amateur
Awards section were SA U19 Captain
Wayne Parnell of Eastern Province and
Nathan Arthur of Griqualand West,
who each claimed two prizes.
Parnell led South Africa to the
final of the recent ICC U19 Cricket
World Cup in Malaysia and he received
both awards in the U19 section.
In addition to the Club Championships
award, Arthur won the prestigious
Khaya Majola Amateur
Cricket award for his contribution
field to the development of
SA cricket.

The Mutual & Federal SA Cricket
Awards recognise outstanding
achievements from U15 level
through to the Proteas, and the event
saw 28 awards for the 2007/08
season being presented to amateur
and professional cricketers,
as well as match officials,
administrators and coaches.



It was an exhaustive season
for the Proteas, given their
obligation to an extensive
FTP, comprising two home
and five away tours.

MTN One-Day International match
between South Africa and West
Indies held at Supersport Park.

Makhaya Ntini celebrates the
wicket in the second test match
between India and South Africa.

Titans celebrate during the Standard
Bank Pro20 final.



The commercialization of cricket
is all about how we maximize
cricket’s best attributes for the
benefit of the country as a
whole. Cricket South Africa is
committed to building the brand
of cricket and its key
stakeholders to ensure that this
great game becomes irresistible
in an era where there are
suddenly numerous
competitors, vying for the
audience’s attention in the
entertainment space.

Cricket is going through a
metamorphosis – a brand new product
is already an international hit and
there’s a new emerging audience, eager
to get involved. Tradition is the lifeblood
of cricket, but if the game is to hold its

own as an entertainment attraction,
we have to continuously innovate while
ensuring that cricket development is
never compromised.
What South African cricket has is a
winning brand in the Proteas.
It helps that they’re consistently winning
and during the year under review,
they became the number one
ODI side in the world. A growing
Proteas brand means increased
interest from sponsors who are
keen to associate with icons of the
game. CSA has a thriving commercial
program that has the potential
to get even better.

CSA’s vision is to broaden the fan base
and position cricket as a truly national
sport of winners. To this end, cricket
maintained its position after soccer, as
the 2nd most popular SA sport across,
breaking the 12 million audience total
for the first time. Adult spectators
increased by a significant 10.4% on

2006, compared to a decline
of -0.4% across all sports, with growth
in black (14%), asian (12.4%) and
coloured (7.8%) audiences resulting in
their highest totals to date. The junior
cricket audience also increased by 4%
vs the average growth of 1.5%
(2007 BMI Sporttrack).

The 2007/8 season kicked off in style
with the inaugural ICC World
Twenty20. SA fans were already
knowledgeable and excited about the
20 over format and so it was a natural
progression to a global platform.
The marketing strategy capitalized on
this support and also provided a launch
pad to a broader audience. Music was
the heartbeat of the sportainment
package and included the iconic T20
dancers, the fanthem “Whoomp it’s a

six”, the DJ Towers and the fanbassador
Dr Beat, who got everyone
shaking it T20 style! The Proud to be
Your Team Proteas brand strategy was
grown into a comprehensive marketing
campaign, aimed at bringing our
heroes even closer to their fans.
The advertising focused on a national
programme of large-scale outdoor
billboards, which provided the
ideal platform for the launch of
the new creative concept of player/fan
role reversals.

The promotional programme targeted
different sectors of the audience and
included Standard Bank coaching
clinics; a Castle shebeen evening;
Castle pub promotions; mall signing
sessions; suiteholder cocktail parties;
and team charity fund raisers. Selected
practice sessions were also opened to
the public who experienced the
behind-the-scenes preparations.
Fans were given a wide variety of

opportunities to interact with their
heroes, while the team was provided
with the platforms to demonstrate their
commitment to their supporters.
Makhaya Ntini’s status as a South
African sporting icon was further
entrenched when he was again voted
the most popular SA sportsperson
(2007 BMI Sporttrack).

CSA’s challenge continues to be the
translation of widespread support into
“bums on seats”. Almost 98% of our
audience owns a TV, and the extensive
coverage of cricket and the associated
convenience factor has resulted in a
higher TV (91%) vs stadium audience
compared to other sports.

CSA’s experiential events strategy is
built on comprehensive consumer

research and the 2007/8 campaign
continued to focus on providing
spectators with an innovative and
affordable entertainment package.
The two well attended MTN ODI Series
included various added-value
promotions and interactive
spectator platforms, while new
promotions such as a viral email
and SMS competition generated
additional excitement.

Various activations were implemented
during the Castle Test Series in an effort
to grow attendance: Castle’s Fanatical
Fan competition inspired spectators to
dress up in innovative Proteas outfits,
while hundreds of lucky winners
experienced Test cricket in style at CSA’s
Picnic on the Park.

Coaching Clinics were held on one day
of each Test and hundreds of aspiring
young cricketers received coaching tips
from Gary Kirsten and Paul Adams.
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The “Test of the Best” Quiz was again
well supported and served to entertain
and educate the public, as well as
promote the Proteas’ achievements.
The players also attended a signing
session on one day of each Test and
spectators were given the chance to
win their own Party with the Proteas.

The three sell-out Standard Bank
International Pro20 matches again
provided fans with a world-class
sportainment experience, which has
set the benchmark for this ‘new
generation’ brand of cricket.

The fifth domestic Standard Bank Pro20
Series elevated the brand to the next
level with the “we’ve got the kaboom”
campaign. The comprehensive
marketing programme included social
media platforms which effectively
targeted the youth market via Facebook
and M-xit. Live blogging added an
exciting new angle while extensive
radio interviews with the players and

sponsor representative Jonty Rhodes
enhanced both the franchises’ and
event profiles.

Prior to the start of the domestic season,
CSA and MTN supported a series of
Fan Parks and Fan Days around the
country. The Fan Parks are a
continuation of the previous “new
markets promotions”, which serve to
introduce previously disadvantaged
audiences to domestic cricket. The MTN
Fan Days provided Unions with a
platform for their stakeholders to enjoy
a social day out.

The MTN Domestic Championship
received a significant marketing boost
from MTN who launched their
innovative Go make a day of it
campaign. CSA continued to assist with
building team brands and regional
loyalty through the distribution of over
20 000 team flags and caps. The MTN

Ladies Night Out promotion was also
successfully launched and introduced
a new sector of the female audience to
franchise cricket.

Declining one-day domestic attendance
is a global concern, which has been
exacerbated by the rapid growth and
popularity of 20-over cricket.
In SA, the 45-over TV audience remained
steady, however a combination of factors
served to impact on stadium attendance.
These included a sharp decrease in
disposable income; limited awareness
due to lack of SABC coverage; low
franchise brand awareness;
and a long duration format which is
more conducive to watch on TV.

CSA has launched a comprehensive
three month survey into 45 over cricket,
which includes nationwide qualitative
consumer research; key stakeholder
interviews; and data analysis
from other sports and cricket nations.
Although the 2008/9 fixtures had to

be finalised before the completion of
the research, some modifications have
already been made including fewer
weekday fixtures, a shorter dinner
break and reduced time for rain delays.

The 2007/8 season culminated
with a rousing celebration of SA cricket
at the Mutual & Federal SA Cricket
Awards, where outstanding
achievements across all levels of the
sport were recognized.

Now, the challenge is how to bridge
the commercial gap between
professional and amateur cricket.
Our Amateur and High Performance
programs are constantly improving
as was evident with the SA Women’s
team qualifying for next year’s ICC
Women’s Cricket World Cup and
the SA Under-19 team reaching the
final of the ICC Under-19 World Cup
in Malaysia.

We have a real chance of taking cricket
development to a new level in South
Africa and CSA is determined to
broaden the game of cricket among
all South Africans. CSA’s Commercial
department has restructured in order
to enhance the implementation of this
vision. Under the new structure,
Commercial has expanded to include
marketing, communications,
public relations, and events, which
allows us to take an integrated
approach to growing the brand of
cricket at all levels, and ensuring
that we make it an appetizing
prospect for sponsors to support the
CSA pipeline.

The key to this process working is
communication! Cricket has made great
strides since unity of the game in
SA in 1991. There are great stories to
tell, from the mother in Alex who
coaches Bakers Mini Cricket,
to the 14-year-old cattle farmer’s son
in Bathurst, who launched a township

cricket team which beat a squad from
St Andrews College in Grahamstown.

As we reflect on the season past,
CSA is grateful to our established loyal
sponsors and suppliers who are making
it possible for us to implement our
broader vision. Without your
enthusiasm and support, none of this
would be possible. CSA looks forward
to strengthening our partnerships with
you as we commit to helping unify
South Africa through cricket.

CSA is privileged to have a strong
national brand in the Proteas, who
stand out as a beacon of hope, success,
and dreams.

34

COMMERCIAL & MARKETING



Castle’s Fanatical
Fan competition
inspired
spectators to
dress up in
innovative
Proteas outfits,



The 2007/8 season kicked

off in style with the

inaugural ICC World

Twenty20 World Cup.

Eagles players poses with the trophy
during the SuperSports Series final.

Gulam Bodi and Imran Tahir with the
MTN Domestic Championship trophy.

India celebrate their Victory during the
final match of the ICC Twenty20 World
Cup between Pakistan and India

The opening ceremony of the ICC
Twenty20 World Cup



INTERNATIONAL AND DOMESTIC
FIXTURES

World cricket is going through one of
the most exciting periods in the history
of the game. The introduction of new
and exciting Twenty20 tournaments,
like the Indian Premier League, has
resulted in an expanded international
playing calendar, in turn putting
pressure on cricket unions around the
world, to accommodate these new
tournaments, while ensuring that their
respective national teams fulfill their
obligations to the Future Tours
Programme (FTP).

Unsurprisingly, it was an exhaustive
season for the Proteas, given their
obligation to an extensive FTP,

comprising two home and five away
tours. Despite this, the Proteas agreed
to a further tour outside of the FTP,
accepting an invitation extended to
Cricket South Africa (CSA) by the Board
of Control for Cricket in India to
participate in a three-match One-Day
International Series in Belfast, Ireland
during the unseasonal month of June.

The Proteas tour of Pakistan coincided
with a volatile political period in the
country. There was a further security
risk during the Test Series in India
arising from threats from an Islamic
militant group to disrupt the final match
in Kanpur. CSA is indebted to the
officials of both Cricket Boards and
their respective government officials
for the effective measures introduced
to ensure the safety of the players.
The double round format of the
SuperSport Series remained
unchanged. In accordance with the
General Council’s commitment to
assisting Zimbabwe in regaining their

Test Match status, it was initially
intended to include the participation of
their National team in the SuperSport
Series, but that was not possible due
to the compact nature of the domestic
season. Instead, arrangements were
made for their National team to
participate in three four-day matches
against composite franchise teams.

The notable change to the double round
format of the MTN Domestic
Championship and single round format
of the Standard Bank Pro20 Series over
the previous season was the inclusion
of the Zimbabwe National team,
playing under the banner of Zimbabwe
Chevrons. Their inclusion gave effect
to the number of MTN Domestic
Championship matches being increased

from 30 to 42 preliminary round
matches, wherein they were permitted
to play their complement of six home
matches in Harare and Bulawayo. The
Standard Bank Pro20 was increased
from 15 to 21 preliminary round
matches with all matches staged at
South African venues.

The number of matches in the South
African Airways three-day and
one-day Challenge were decreased
following the reduction in the number
of Associate Members participating in
the Challenge Competition which was
restricted to Kwa-Zulu Natal Inland and
South Western Districts. The Namibia
National team continued to participate
in the competition and this year saw the
inclusion of a Zimbabwe Under-23 team.

In preparation for the South Africa
Under-19 team’s participation in the
ICC U/19 Cricket World Cup in
Malaysia, an Under-19 triangular
tournament involving India and

Bangladesh was staged in South Africa.
Additionally, the format of the Domestic
Under-19 Competition was changed
to give effect to a first round of
three-day cricket followed by a
round of limited overs cricket.
This proved to be of immense benefit
and the team finished runners-up to
India in the final.

The South African ‘A’ team undertook
a two four-day tour to Zimbabwe, and
thereafter a two four-day and three
one-day tour to India. In addition,
the ‘A’ team also participated in two
four-day matches against the national
team of New Zealand and one
four-day match against the national
team of West Indies during their
respective tours of South Africa.

As part of CSA’s High Performance
programme, the National Academy team
toured Bangladesh to play in two
four-day matches against the Bangladesh
National Academy and a one-day
triangular series featuring the Academy
teams of Bangladesh and Pakistan.

SA STAGES SUCCESSFUL ICC WORLD
TWENTY20

South Africa hosted the inaugural ICC
World Twenty20 event. The six Test
stadiums were requested to submit bids
to the Policy Committee as only three
stadiums were permitted to host the
Event. Liberty Life Wanderers Stadium,
Sahara Stadium Kingsmead and
Sahara Park Newlands were appointed
as the host venues. SuperSport Park
was chosen as an alternate venue.

Peter Muzzell, CSA pitch consultant,
was engaged prior to the
commencement of the Event to assist
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the three grounds in preparing world
class pitches and outfields.

Willowmoore Park, Sedgars Park and
SuperSport Park were selected as
venues for warm-up matches to the
main Event.

NEW FUTURE TOURS PROGRAMME
DISCUSSED

The 10 Full Member countries met in
February in Malaysia to discuss the
next cycle of the ICC FTP from 2012 to
2017. Three proposals were up for
discussion, viz. 4, 5 or 6 year cycle.
Dave Richardson, ICC General
Manager – Cricket, has been tasked
to meet with the individual boards to
get a general consensus on which cycle
to adopt. The likelihood, based on
deliberations in Malaysia, is the possible
adoption of the 6-year cycle.

NEW DOMESTIC PLAYING
CONDITIONS INCORPORATED
COMPETITIONS

The new ICC amendments that became
effective as from 01 October 2007
were all incorporated in all our
competitions. The following changes
were incorporated into the MTN
Domestic Championship:

• The mandatory change of ball at the
commencement of the 35th over.

• The inclusion of a free hit for a
foot-fault no-ball. This previously
only applied to the Standard Bank
Pro20 Competition.

• The modification of the second
and third power-plays wherein
provision was made for three
fielders to be positioned outside the
field restriction circle.

The following change was incorporated
in the Standard Bank Pro20 Series:

• There shall be no field changes for
a free hit unless there has been a
change of striker.

SOUTH AFRICAN MATCH OFFICIALS
MAKE THEIR MARK

Mike Procter continues to fulfill his duties
as an ICC Elite Match Referee.
Mike was appointed to oversee the
Australia versus India Series which
displayed an element of volatility
between the two teams.

Rudi Koertzen continues to serve with
distinction on the ICC Elite Panel of
Umpires and is still rated highly on the
International circuit. Rudi’s appointment
to the entire series of the Indian Premier

Leagues also reflects his standing in
world cricket. Rudi also availed
himself to officiate in all domestic
matches when not engaged by
ICC, and these periods were utilized
to maximize our transfer of skills
and capacity building to our
younger members.

Brian Jerling and Ian Howell received
ICC appointments to officiate in Test
Matches and One Day Internationals
abroad. Ian was also appointed to
officiate in the ICC World T20
Championship held in South Africa in
September. Both Brian and Ian were
unsuccessful in their pursuit of gaining
elevation on the ICC Elite Panel.
They were however invited to officiate
in the Indian Premier League for
staggered periods.

Marais Erasmus made his International
debut with the Kenya versus Canada
match in Nairobi and officiated in the
ICC U19 World Cup in Malaysia.

Karl Hurter and Marais Erasmus
received appointments as television
umpires during the home Series against
New Zealand and West Indies.

The South African Match Referee’s
panel has been a successful tool in
bridging the gap between the players
and officials at franchise level.
The general feedback on the umpire
performance is more holistic and less
emotional. This panel consists of six
members which allows for the workload
to be apportioned equally in most cases.
The inclusion of retired First Class Panel
members Barry Lambson and Shahid
Wadvalla has been met with general
approval by the players.
This is consistent with our policy of
“life after umpiring”.

Our umpires performed at very
high standards during the past season
which was of concern at the end of last
season. The policy implementation of
pairing senior members with juniors
whenever possible, in most matches,
proved to be beneficial in addressing
concerns. This policy has assisted in
broadening the base to sustain us in
the future.

Whilst conceding that set transformation
objectives at the top echelon of umpiring
in South Africa have not been achieved,
policies and procedures have been
initiated to ensure steady progress.
Due to budget constraints the appointment
of umpires to certain national tournaments
were based on regionalization. This
concession will have the adverse effect
of retarding the process of identifying
umpires through the channel created over
the past seasons.

ICC ANTI-RACISM CODE AMENDED

CSA had major input in the ICC’s
amended Anti-Racism Code. An update
of the code has been forwarded to all
Affiliates for immediate implementation.
Areas of concern are that certain stadia
are unwilling to put up the signage as
required by the code. Part of the
updated code makes reference to
sanctions being imposed on the
member for non-adherence to the code.
Security measures employed at all
grounds has been generally good.

Broadening the Base of Scorers
The Scorers again acquitted themselves
in their usual efficient manner.
The appointment of scorers to
International and Domestic matches
remains the function of the
respective Affiliates. The policy of
commitment to excellence underpins
the strategic planning of the umpiring,
scoring and groundsmanship
structures wherein the base has been
considerably broadened,
reflecting an ever increasing
appointment of officials from all
communities of South Africa.

SPIRIT OF CRICKET

Cricket South Africa jealously guards
the laws of cricket, and worked
vigorously during the year under review
to ensure that the laws as well as the
Spirit of Cricket were upheld at all levels
of the game.

On the legal disciplinary side, CSA is
most fortunate in having the services
of Advocate Michael Kuper SC and
Judge Mervyn King for convening
hearings involving breaches of CSA’s
Code of Conduct.

On the education front, the Standard
Bank National Academy participants
are taught to respect the laws and ethics
of the game which are captured in the
Preamble “Spirit of Cricket” to the
MCC’s Laws of Cricket and which states
as follows:

“Cricket is a game that owes much of
its unique appeal to the fact that it
should be played not only within its
Laws but also within the Spirit of the
Game. Any action which is seen to
abuse this spirit causes an injury to the
game itself.”

The Cricket Operations Department is
responsible for seeing that these values
are upheld on behalf of Cricket South
Africa and did so successfully during
the year under review.
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CSA jealously guards the laws
of cricket, and worked
vigorously during the year
under review to ensure that
the laws as well as the Spirit
of Cricket were upheld at all
levels of the game.

A helicopter brings the Umpires,
Brian Jerling and Karl Hurter to
the ground during the Standard
Bank Pro20 final.

Umpires during the Standard
Bank Pro20 match.

Graeme Smith during the Cricket SA
coaching clinic held at the Alexandra
Oval in the Alexandra township.

Gauteng Scorers, Mutual &
Federal Scorers Association of
the Year winners



The General Council (“Genco”)
of the United Cricket Board of
South Africa (“UCBSA”), and
the directors of Cricket South
Africa (Pty) Ltd (“Board”), is
committed to and has been
pursuing the principles of the
code of corporate practice and
conduct recommended in the
King II Report on Corporate
Governance. Genco and the
Board are committed to the
principles of openness, integrity
and accountability as
advocated in the King Report.

Genco, and the Board, aims to
continuously improve the implementation
of corporate governance principles at
all levels of administration.

Genco, and the Board, encourages
transparency and accountability in
cricket administration to all its
stakeholders, including the effective
communication of policies, codes and
values in all aspects of administration.

The differentiation of roles and
responsibilities between policy-making
and operational decision-making has
also evolved over the past few years.

The legal structure and administration of
cricket in South Africa is divided into a
professional arm and an amateur arm.

GENERAL COUNCIL
(AMATEUR ARM)

UCBSA is governed by a unitary
General Council, with 18 permanent
members. The members are drawn
from 11 Affiliates, three Black African
representatives; elected by the Affiliates,
and the Management Committee
(President, Vice-President, Treasurer
and Chief Executive Officer).
The President, Vice President and
Treasurer are elected for a term of three
years. Genco is responsible for policy
decisions and overall corporate
governance. The day-to-day
management is delegated to the Chief
Executive Officer. During the year, the
position of Chief Operating Officer
(COO) was established to provide
support to the Chief Executive Officer.

Genco meets on a quarterly basis, with
additional meetings being called where
circumstances necessitate. Effective
chairmanship by the President, and a
formal agenda, ensure that all issues
requiring attention are raised.
Proceedings are conducted efficiently
and all appropriate matters are
addressed at each meeting. All
necessary information is supplied to
members of Genco timeously.

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA
(PTY) LTD (CSA)
(PROFESSIONAL ARM)

The Board of Directors of CSA assume
responsibility for professional cricket.
CSA has 13 directors. The directors
are drawn from the six Franchises, one
player representative, two externals
and the Management Committee. The
Board sets policies and strategic goals
of the professional arm.

GENCO AND BOARD
COMMITTEES

Genco and the Board are supported
by the secretariat and various
committees. The establishment of the
committees does not absolve the
GENCO and the Board from their
ultimate responsibilities and duties.
Details of the activities of these structures
are based on defined terms of reference
which are approved by GENCO or the
Board. Reports from each committee
are submitted to GENCO and the Board
at every meeting for consideration.
The members of Genco, the Board and
committees are noted on page XX.

The following are the current
committees:
• Audit and Risk Committee

UCBSA and CSA share one Audit
and Risk committee. The committee
comprises three independent
members. The members are diverse
and have the requisite skills,
knowledge and experience.
The committee provides an oversight
role on risk, internal controls and
financial reporting. It also monitors
the effectiveness of internal and
external audit and compliance with
regulatory and policy requirements.
The committee aims to meet at least
three times a year with special
meetings called as and when
necessary. The Chief Executive
Officer (CEO), Chief Operating
Officer (COO) and Chairman of
Finance committee are invited to
attend all the meetings of the
committee. In addition the external
auditors attend the meeting as
invitees during planning and
finalization of audits.

• Finance Committee
The committee comprises of the
Treasurer, CEO, COO, one
Franchise/Affiliate CEO
representative, one Genco member
and two independent members.
The committee mainly assists in
overseeing all operationally related
finance matters including budgets.
The committee meets at least four
times annually.

• Remuneration Committee
This committee is tasked to deal with
all aspects relating to remuneration
across cricket in South Africa. The
committee comprises three members,
namely two independent members
and the Chairman of the Finance
committee. The committee meets at
least twice annually.

• Transformation Committee
This committee reviews the UCBSA’s
transformation policy, and its
implementation, and makes relevant
recommendations to General
Council for consideration and
decision. The sub-committee
comprises five members.

• Management Committee
The Manco Committee comprises the
President, Vice President, Treasurer
of Genco and Chief Executive Officer.
The committee meets as and when
necessary to discuss executive
business and other matters raised
that affect SA Cricket generally.

Other Accountability and Audit related
matters detailed below

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

Genco, and the CSA Board of Directors,
are responsible for the financial and
operational systems of internal control.
Systems of internal control have been
put in place to provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are
concluded in accordance with
management's authority, that assets
are adequately protected against
unauthorised acquisition, use or
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Norman Arendse (ICC President) and Gerald Majola (CEO)
with Hentie van Wyk (Treasurer) and Dr. Logan Naidoo
(Vice-President) during the Annual General Meeting held
by the United Cricket Board of South Africa.



disposition, and that transactions are
properly authorised and recorded.

These controls are contained in
established policies and procedures
documents. Responsibility for the
adequacy, extent and operational
implementation of these systems lies
with the Chief Executive Officer. The
effectiveness of the systems of internal
control, in operation, is monitored
through reviews and reports from
managers and external auditors.
Major weaknesses identified by
external auditors are brought to the
attention of executive management
and the Audit and Risk Committee
for consideration and remedial action.
In the year under review, the internal
audit function has performed
independent reviews and appraisals
of operational activities, at head office
and regional level. Their reports are
reviewed by the Audit and Risk
Committee,

EXTERNAL AUDIT

The external auditors provide
independent assurance on the Annual
Financial Statements. Their report
appears in this annual report.

ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND
SAFETY

Members of Genco and the Board
acknowledge their responsibility to
players, all employees of UCBSA, CSA
and the public for compliance with
occupational health and safety
standards. The Genco is committed to
taking reasonable precautions to ensure

a safe environment especially on the
cricket field.

CODE OF ETHICS

The members of Genco, CSA Board,
players and employees of Cricket South
Africa are required to observe the
highest ethical standards so as to ensure
that cricket, and business practices, are
conducted in a manner which is beyond
reproach.

These principles are incorporated in a
formal Code of Ethics, which provides
clear guidelines regarding expected
behaviour of all players and employees.

CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY

Corporate Social Investment (CSI) is a
core part of CSA’s values and principles
and it is engaged in rewarding
partnerships that aim to make a
difference in people’s lives.

CSA and the Proteas support many
local and international charities through
participation in fund raising events and
the Proteas memorabilia donation
programme.

CSA has worked closely for over 10
years with Reach for a Dream, a
foundation which endeavors to help
children with life threatening illnesses
to believe in the power of dreams and
giving them the hope and courage to
overcome their illness.

During the course of the 2007/08
season, Cricket South Africa hosted 80

children and their families at the MTN
ODI Series against New Zealand and
West Indies. Two children per ODI also
participated as flag bearers and led
the teams onto the field for the singing
of the national anthems.

CSA, in partnership with Mutual &
Federal, once again hosted young
dreamers and their parents at the
season launch dinner and SA Cricket
Awards. Mutual & Federal also
donated R91 800 to RFAD on behalf
of 2007 SA Cricketer of the Year,
Shaun Pollock, through the Runs for
Rands” and “Wishes for Wickets”
campaign.

CSA wholeheartedly believes in
creating winners for life through the
provision of the holistic education of
the youth. Cricket is a sport that
encourages the pursuit of
excellence by the individual for the
overall good of the team, and this is
an ethic that we try to impart
through life skills beyond the playing
field. To date, at least 50 cricketers
have taken advantage of the
flexible study programme that is
offered by Unisa to members
of CSA.

CSA is committed to the HIV/Aids
awareness campaign, and we do this
in conjunction with LoveLife.
The major campaign for the year
under review was an awareness
campaign conducted with high profile
players during the ICC World
Twenty20 held in South Africa.
This campaign received extensive
exposure world-wide and
included as partners CSA, ICC,
LoveLife and the United Nations.
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The members of Genco,
CSA Board, players and
employees of Cricket
South Africa are
required to observe the
highest ethical
standards so as to
ensure that cricket,
and business practices,
are conducted in a
manner which is
beyond reproach.

Young kids line up for the
autographs during the SA
Cricket Coaching Clinic held at
Durban Beachfront in Durban.



Back Row (L - R) Mr. Andrew O'Connor, Mr. Mohamed Ebrahim, Dr. Peter Cyster, Mr. Vuyisile Mgadle and
Mr. Leon Crawley.

Front Row (L - R) Mr. Max Boqwana, Mr. Raymond Uren, Mr. Gerald Majola (CEO), Adv. Norman Arendse (President),
Dr. Logan Naidoo (Vice President), Mr. Ernest Molotsi and Mr. Abdool Khan.

Not in picture: Prof. Hentie van Wyk, Prof. Fanie Gericke, Mr. Ahmed Jinnah, Dr. Mtutuzeli Nyoka,
Mr. Jessie Chellan, Mrs. Zola Thamae
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GENERAL COUNCIL

 AUDIT COMMITTEE
Ms. Thandi Orleyn (Convenor)
Mr. Murphy Morobe
Mr. Patrick Kabuya

The CEO, Treasurer, and COO
are required to attend all meetings
as invitees.

SELECTION COMMITTEE
Mr. Joubert Strydom
Mr. Shafiek Abrahams
Mr. Mustapha Khan
Mr. Mickey Arthur

FINANCE COMMITTEE (FINCO)
Prof. Hentie van Wyk (Convenor)
Mr. Ashraf Seedat
Mr. Peter Ingwersen
Mr. Gerald Majola
Prof. Fanie Gericke
Mrs. Elise Lombard
Mr. Don McIntosh

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Paul Harris (Convenor)
Ms. Thandi Orleyn
Prof. Hentie van Wyk
Ms. Thandeka Mgoduso

LEGAL AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Mr. Max Boqwana
Judge Ronnie Pillay
Judge Mohammed Jajbhay
Mr. Jacques Faul

TRANSFORMATION REVIEW
COMMITTEE
Mr. John Smith (Convenor)
Mr. Gerald Majola
Mr. Chris Day
Mr. Vuyisile Mgadle
Mr. André Odendaal
Mr. Ahmed Jinnah

CSA COMMITTEES



Back Row (L to R) Dr. Mohammed Moosajee, Mr. Andrew O'Connor, Mr. Mohamed Ebrahim, Mr. Leon Crawley,
Mr. Tony Irish and Mr. Abdool Khan.

Front Row (L to R) Mr. Paul Harris, Mr. Raymond Uren, Mr. Gerald Majola (CEO), Adv. Norman Arendse (Chairman),
Dr. Logan Naidoo and Ms. Ntombesizwe Gqobose.

Not in picture: Prof. Hentie van Wyk
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (PTY) LTD

FRANCHISE REVIEW
COMMITTEE
Prof. Kader Asmal (Chairman)
Mr. John Smith
Dr. Mtutuzeli Nyoka
Mr. Andrew Hudson

AMATEUR CRICKET
COMMITTEE
Mr. Raymond Uren (Convenor)
Mr. Nabeal Dien
Mr. Eugene Jacobs
Mr. Rudy Claassen
Ms. Kerri Laing
Mr. Dennis Carlstein

Mr. Shaheed Khan
Mr. Nic Kock
Mr. Maxwell Jordaan
Mr. Anton Ferreira
Mr. Niels Momberg
Mr. Cassim Suliman

(CEO of Africa Cricket Association
- by invitation)

Convenor to utilize other Genco
members as he deems necessary.

MEDICAL COMMITTEE
Dr. Shuaib Manjra (Chairman)
Mrs. Janine Gray

Dr. Mohammed Moosajee
Dr. Maki Ramagola
Mr. Shane Jabaar (by invitation)
Mr. Grant Compton (by invitation)
Mrs. T-J Malherbe
Mr. Rob Walter
Mr. Anton Ferreira
Mr. Sarel Cilliers
Dr. Jon Patricios

CSA COMMITTEES



FINANCIAL YEAR - TREASURER’S
REPORT 2007/08

I am proud to report a

consolidated deficit, for

2007/08, of R16.358 million

before tax adjustments.



This is my third Treasurer’s
Report that I am delivering and
it is with the same sense of
pride and opportunity.
The year under review has built
on the previous good years
and continues to reflect the
benefits of cricket being run
better at all levels.

In line with our expectations the
2007/08 financial year was always
going to be one of the poorer financial
years during the May 2006 to April
2010 4 year cycle. However, in line
with the winning form displayed in the
cricket arena, this year, by all of our
teams the actual results for 2007/08
have been significantly better than
what was originally budgeted for,
back in March 2007.

This positive variance is mainly due to
unexpected matches against India in
Ireland, significant interest income on
CSA cash balances,foreign exchange
gains and the ongoing focus on saving
costs wherever possible. I am therefore
proud to report a consolidated deficit,
for 2007/08, of R16.358 million
before tax adjustments.

The governance and control
environment surrounding cricket
continues to improve. The year under
review represents a watershed year as
it will be the last year that head office
entities are separated for tax reasons.
In the 2008/09 year the current two
national cricket entities, namely
UCBSA and CSA, will be amalgamated

under a section 21 association not for
gain known as CSA.

In this vein I again want to express
appreciation to Minister Trevor Manuel,
Prof Kader Asmal, the National
Treasury and SARS for their support of
sport in South Africa. In this regard I
challenge the regions to seriously
consider this once-off opportunity as
besides reducing income tax in the
long term one legal entity will also
improve transparency, and ease of
understanding, across all
spheres of cricket.

At a regional level all cricket related
entities are moving onto a standard
chart of accounts from May 2008 which
will enable more relevant management
accounts. At a national level
administrators will be able to enjoy
consistent and transparent financial
information not previously possible due
to this change.

Cricket continues to use a four-year
profitability, and cash flow, cycle view
to underpin cricket’s long term stability
and smooth funding.

The main themes driving the 2007/08
year’s financial results, versus 2006/07,
are reduced international TV revenues
and ICC related dividends. In this vein
expenses related to team commercial
rights have also reduced.

As indicated in the previous Treasurer’s
Report the 2006/07 financial year is
the anchor revenue year of the current

four year cycle. As a result we were
able to bulk up large reserves to carry
through two quiet years, being the year
under review and 2008/09,
resulting in material interest income
and large cash balances related to the
year under review.  The favourable
variance of the year under review puts
CSA in a better position to balance our
books over the four year cycle.
The possibility of a further distribution
to cricket stakeholders after the four
year period will be reviewed by the
Finance Committee.

A large proportion of cricket payments
consist of the distribution of funds, or
grants, to member affiliates and
franchises. The related parties note
reflects these and other amounts that
find their way into regional coffers.

Spend on amateur development is up,
both in terms of direct funding to
Affiliates and head office related
projects.

The Internal Audit function continues
to function and allows the Audit & Risk
Committee to be aware of concerns,
and to identify risk areas, both at Head
Office and in the regions.

In conclusion I would like to emphasise
the contribution made to cricket by our
sponsors, suppliers and spectators.
My sincere thanks and admiration to
Mr Gerald Majola, Mr Don McIntosh,
head office staff, members of the Finance
and Audit committees for their time and
valuable input during the past year.

2007/08 FINANCIAL YEAR - TREASURER’S REPORT
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UCBSA & CSA
SPLIT OF COMBINED 07-08
OPERATIONAL REVENUE

UCBSA & CSA
SPLIT OF COMBINED 07-08
OPERATIONAL EXPENSES

& DISTRIBUTIONS

UCBSA 42%CSA 58%UCBSA 17%CSA 83%
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UNITED CRICKET BOARD OF SOUTH AFRICA
STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL OF
THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2008

The General Council is responsible for the preparation and integrity
of the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements that fairly present
the state of affairs of the United Cricket Board of South Africa Group
(“UCBSA”), and other information contained in this annual report.

To enable the General Council to meet these responsibilities:

• The General Council sets policies and principles, and management
implements systems of internal control and information systems
in a cost effective manner, aimed at providing reasonable assurance
that assets are safeguarded and the risk of error, fraud or loss
is eliminated. These controls, contained in established policies
and procedures, include the proper delegation of responsibilities
and authorities within a clearly defined framework, effective
accounting procedures, and adequate segregation of duties.

• The Finance Committee, under the leadership of the Treasurer,
plays an important oversight role in all matters relating to
financial administration and internal control, accounting policies,
and reporting requirements.

• The Audit and Risk Committee, comprising independent external
members and constituted in terms of the requirements of sound
corporate governance practices, assists the General Council to
discharge its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets, the
operation of adequate systems and control processes, and the
preparation of annual financial statements in compliance with
all applicable legal requirements and accounting standards.

Based on the above and to the best of their knowledge and belief,
the General Council is satisfied that no material breakdown in the
operation of the systems of internal control and procedures has
occurred during the year under review.

It is the responsibility of the independent auditors to report on the
financial statements. Their report to the members of the UCBSA is
set out on page 47 of this annual report. The consolidated annual
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the South
African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.

The consolidated financial statements of the United Cricket Board
of South Africa and its 100% subsidiary company, Cricket South
Africa (Proprietary) Limited, has been presented together, over and
above the separate financial statements for the two entities.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 48 to 61 were
approved by the General Council on 11 July 2008 and are signed
on its behalf by:

PRESIDENT: N ARENDSE                 TREASURER: H VAN WYK

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO
THE MEMBERS OF THE UNITED CRICKET BOARD OF
SOUTH AFRICA

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the United
Cricket Board of South Africa Group which comprise the consolidated
balance sheet as at 30 April 2008, the consolidated income
statement for the year then ended, the consolidated statement of
changes in reserves and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 48 to 61.

General Council’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The General Council is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting principles used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the general council, as well as evaluation the
overall financial statement presentation.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the United Cricket
Board of South Africa Group as at 30 April 2008, and of its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Auditors
Per M Ajoodha
Partner

11 July 2008

Buildings 1 and 2
Deloitte Place
The Woodlands
Woodlands Drive
Woodmead Sandton

National Executive:GG Gelink Chief Executive, AE Sweigers Chief Operating Officer,
GM Pinnock Audit, DL Kennedy Tax & Legal and Financial Advisory, L Geeringh Consulting,
L Bam Corporate Finance , CR Beukman Finance , TJ Brown Clients & Markets,
NT Mtoba Chairman of the Board.



Revenue 211 853 385 944

Professional sponsorship - international 47 732 47 986
Amateur sponsorship - national 9 128 9 010
Professional sponsorship - domestic 39 981 38 844
Amateur sponsorship - development 6 705 6 573
International TV income 17 016 118 470
Domestic TV income 29 265 27 016
Supplier program 8 868 9 693
International gate revenue 6 896 10 364
ICC distributions 20 028 102 623
NLTDF (Lottery) grant - 3 880
Sports and Recreation South Africa grants 2 454 850
Commissions earned 592 562
Sundry income 22 153 3 634
Affiliation fees 11 11
Event income 3 024 3 548
World cup 2003 legacy income - 2 880

Cricket expenses (250 968) (250 684)

Administrative expenses (36 251) (35 715)
Amateur cricket (20 635) (21 458)
Sports and Recreation South Africa expenditure 2 (454) (850)
Direct allocations to Amateur Bodies (52 378) (35 065)
Women’s cricket (2 248) (1 976)
Disabled cricket (207) (180)
Domestic competitions funding (16 091) (8 447)
Parastatal grants (180) (180)
High performance programs (3 596) (3 037)
World cup 2003 legacy expenses - (2 880)
Cricket operations and umpires (1 769) (3 097)
Marketing (11 857) (12 296)
Direct allocations to franchise members (25 767) (24 468)
Cricket development (1 349) (975)
SA Teams tour costs (29 605) (38 218)
SA Teams remuneration expenses (37 644) (51 475)
TV production costs (10 937) (10 367)

(Deficit) surplus before investment income,
 and net foreign exchange gain (loss) 3 (39 115) 135 260

Investment income 4 19 746 7 100
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) 3 011 (1 773)

(Deficit) surplus before taxation (16 358) 140 587

Taxation 5 4 078 (10 918)

(Deficit) surplus for the year (12 280) 129 669
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Notes 2008 2007
R’000 R’000

UNITED CRICKET BOARD OF SOUTH AFRICA

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 April 2008



ASSETS

Non-current assets 28 845 27 479

Property, vehicles and equipment 6 624 740
Investments 7 26 24
Deferred taxation 8 4 087 9
Loan: Western Province Cricket Association 9.1 22 427 20 175
Loan: Central Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd 9.2 1 681 -
Long-term prepayment: ICC subscription - 6 531

Current asset 214 511 231 259

Short-term portion of loan:  cCentral Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd 9.2 312 -
Loan: 2007 ICC 20 20 WC (South Africa) 9.3 13 976 -
Trade and other receivables 10 35 958 91 062
Short-term portion of prepayment: ICC subscription 6 808 6 377
South African Revenue Service 2 811 1 472
Cash and cash equivalents 11 154 646 132 348

Total assets 243 356 258 738

RESERVES AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves 192 377 204 657

Trust funds 349 349
2003 ICC cricket world cup distribution funds - 17 371
Accumulated surplus 192 028 186 937

Current liabilities 50 979 54 081

Loan: 2007 ICC 2020 WC (South Africa) 9.3 5 769 -
Provision 12 462 209
Trade and other payables 13 44 748 42 584
South African Revenue Services - 11 288

Total reserves and liabilities 243 356 258 738
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2003 ICC
Cricket

Trust World Cup
funds distribution Accumulated

funds funds Total
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Balance as at 1 May 2006 as restated 349 17 371 57 268 74 988

Surplus for the year - - 129 669 129 669

Balance as at 30 April 2007 349 17 371 186 937 204 657

Deficit for the year - - (12 280) (12 280)
Transfer to accumulated funds - (17 371) 17 371 -

Balance as at 30 April 2008 349 - 192 028 192 377
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CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Deficit) surplus for the year (12 280) 129 669

Adjustments for: (23 278) (4 849)
Depreciation 337 510
(Profit) loss on disposal of property, vehicles and equipment (42) 299
Interest received (19 746) (7 100)
Fair value adjustment in investment (2) (3)
Movement in provision 253 (1 089)
Deferred taxation movement (4 078) 2 534

(Deficit) surplus before working capital changes (35 558) 124 820

Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables 55 104 (45 093)
Decrease (increase) in prepayment: ICC subscription 6 100 (12 908)
Increase in South African Revenue Services receivable (1 339) -
(Decrease) increase in South African Revenue Services payable (11 288) 8 237
Increase in trade and other payables 2 164 8 153
Decrease in receipts in advance - (11 056)

Cash generated from operating activities 15 183 72 153

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, vehicles & equipment (239) (62)
Proceeds on disposal of property, vehicles & equipment 60 -
Interest received 19 746 7 100
Proceeds on Western Province Cricket Association loan (2 252) (1 632)
Proceeds on Central Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd loan (1 993) -
Proceeds on 2007 ICC 20 20 WC (South Africa) (8 207) -

Cash generated from investing activities 7 115 5 406

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22 298 77 559

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 132 348 54 789

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 154 646 132 348
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared in terms of South African Statements of Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of non-trading
financial asset investments, financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading, and financial assets designated as fair value
through profit and loss. Non-current assets and disposal groups held-for-sale, where applicable, are stated at the lower of its
carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The principal accounting policies of the UCBSA are consistent with those applied in the previous year, except for the adoption
of new and revised standards and interpretations as detailed in note 21.

1.2 Consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and cash flows of the UCBSA and its
wholly owned subsidiary Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd as if they are a single economic entity. Control is achieved where the board
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Inter-company
transactions and balances between the board and entities controlled by the board are eliminated on consolidation.

1.3 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably
measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Cash and settlement discounts, rebates,
VAT and other indirect taxes are excluded from revenue. Revenue comprises income from the sale of TV rights, sponsorship revenue,
event revenue, gate revenue and other revenue. Revenue due in terms of contracts is recognised according to the terms of the contract,
while all other income is accounted for on an accrual basis or in accordance with the relevant transactions or agreements

1.4 Investment income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the interest rate applicable.

1.5 Investments

Investments are carried at fair value as determined by reference to the quoted market values or other appropriate measures.

1.6 Taxation

The charge for current taxation is based on the results for the year as adjusted for items which are non-assessable or disallowed.
It is calculated using taxation rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation is accounted for on all temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding taxation bases used in the computation of taxable profit. In
principle, deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred taxation assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arise from goodwill or from the acquisition
of an asset, which does not affect either taxable or accounting income.

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in businesses except where
the company is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred taxation is calculated at the tax rates that reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
company expects to recover the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred taxation is charged or credited in the income
statement, except when it relates to items credited or charged directly to equity, in which case the deferred taxation is also dealt
with in equity.

1.7 Property, vehicles and equipment

Property, vehicles and equipment (owned and leased) are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method as follows:

Motor vehicles 4 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Office equipment 10 years
Furniture & fittings 10 years
Leasehold improvements over period of the lease

All assets are reviewed annually for impairment.

Useful lives, depreciation methods and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date. No depreciation is charged if
the residual values are more than the carrying value. The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying value of the asset and is recognised in income.
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1.8 Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of any
individual asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

1.9 Leases

Leases for assets under which the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Obligations incurred under operating leases are recognised in the income statement in equal instalments over the period
of the lease.

1.10 Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the rates of exchange ruling on the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Gains and losses arising from the settlement of such transactions are recognised in the income statement.

1.11 Post-employment benefit costs

The Board operates a defined contribution plan, the assets of which are generally held in a separate trustee-administered fund.
The fund is funded by payments from employees and the Board. The Board’s contributions are recognised in the income statement
during the period in which the employee renders the related service.

1.12 Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivables, accounts
payables and borrowings. These instruments are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs, when the company becomes
a party to the contractual agreement. The financial instruments are subsequently measured as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents - measured at fair value.

Investments - measured at fair value.

Accounts receivables - stated at their nominal value and reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

Accounts payables - stated at nominal values.

Borrowings - carried at original debt value less principal repayments and amortisations.

1.13 Receipts in advance

Monies received which are not yet due, in terms of the contracts, are deferred and recorded as receipts in advance.

1.14 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

1.15 Provisions

Provision for leave is recognised as a present constructive obligation when, as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

1.16 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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2008 2007
R’000 R’000

2. SPORT AND RECREATION SOUTH AFRICA

Having seen the allocation of funds from the Department of Sport and Recreation South Africa, we are satisfied that the amounts
were spent in accordance with para 4.11 of the Memorandum of Agreement.

Subsidies received and spent from Sport and Recreation South Africa

Categories

Transformation/ more people 124 850
Special projects: School sport 330 -

454 850

The subsidies from the Department of Sport and Recreation South Africa
were deposited on the following dates;

•   R124 000 deposited on 31 October 2007
•   R330 000 deposited on 31 March 2008

All equipment purchased has been expensed.

3. (DEFICIT) SURPLUS BEFORE INVESTMENT
INCOME AND NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAIN (LOSS)

(Deficit) surplus before investment income and net foreign exchange gain (loss) have
been arrived at after charging the following items:

Auditors’ remuneration 415 316

- Fees 415 266
- Other - 50

Depreciation 337 510

Fair value adjustment in investment (2) (3)

General Council costs 1 496 1 242

- Non-executive remuneration included in Governance costs 771 790

- Senior General Council office bearers
   - Meeting fees 74 79

   - Honoraria 547 571

- Other General Council office bearers
  - Honoraria 150 140

Operating lease charges
- Premises 311 264

- Equipment 96 369

(Profit) loss on disposal of property, vehicles and equipment (42) 299

SA team remuneration costs 37 644 51 475

SA team tour costs 29 605 38 218

Salary and related employment costs:
- Administration related staff 14 879 12 918

4. INVESTMENT INCOME

Interest received - Related party loans 2 422 1 632
                         - Bank 17 324 5 468

Total investment income 19 746 7 100
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R’000 R’000

5. TAXATION

South African normal taxation
Current taxation - current year - 11 888

- prior year - (3 504)

Deferred taxation - current year (4 078) 2 534

(4 078) 10 918

Reconciliation of rate of taxation % %

Taxation at standard rate (28.00) 29.00
Taxable effect of expenses and income that are not deductible or taxable in determining
taxable income 3.07 (18.74)
Prior year adjustment - (2.49)
Effect of tax rate change - -

Effective rate of taxation (24.93) 7.77

The UCBSA is an association not for gain and public benefit organisation registered
in terms of section 30 of the Income Tax Act, 1962.  Due to its public benefit
organisation status, the receipts and accruals of the Board are not subject to
South African income tax.  The receipts and accruals of its wholly owned subsidiary,
Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd, is however subject to South African income tax.

Motor Computer Office Furniture & Leasehold
vehicles equipment equipment fittings improvements Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

6. PROPERTY, VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT

2008

Cost
At beginning of year 231 205 62 - 2 289 2 787
Additions - 152 12 75 - 239
Disposals (231) (13) (19) - - (263)

At end of year - 344 55 75 2 289 2 763

Accumulated depreciation

At beginning of year 188 127 18 - 1 714 2 047
Current year 43 59 6 - 229 377
Disposals (231) (5) (9) - - (245)

At year end - 181 15 - 1 943 2 139

Carrying amount – 2008 - 163 40 75 346 624

2007

Cost
At beginning of year 319 4 976 227 720 2 289 8 531
Additions - 62 - - - 62
Disposals (88) (4 833) (165) (720) - (5 806)

At end of year 231 205 62 - 2 289 2 787

Accumulated depreciation

At beginning of year 218 4 799 70 472 1 485 7 044
Current year 58 129 23 71 229 510
Disposals (88) (4 801) (75) (543) - (5 507)

At year end 188 127 18 - 1 714 2 047

Carrying amount – 2007 43 78 44 - 575 740
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7. INVESTMENTS

Listed investment:
Liberty International Plc – 166 shares at cost 2 2

2 2

Market value of listed investment 26 24

8. DEFERRED TAXATION

The movement in deferred taxation is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year 9 2 543
Income statement movement 4 078 (2 534)

Balance at end of the year 4 087 9

Analysis of deferred taxation by type of temporary difference:

Provisions 30 27

Prepaid expenses 1 (18)

Computed tax loss 4 056 -

4 087 9

9.1. LOAN: WESTERN PROVINCE CRICKET ASSOCIATION

Balance at beginning of the year 20 175 18 543
Interest accrued 2 252 1 632

Balance at end of the year 22 427 20 175

The loan arose out of a General Council decision to support Western Province
Cricket Association (“WPCA”) in the purchase of the Newlands Cricket Ground.

A loan and cession agreement has been signed and all amounts outstanding shall be
repaid by no later than 30 April 2011. Earlier repayment of the loan is at
WPCA’s discretion. The loan is secured and bears interest at equivalent rates which
the United Cricket Board of South Africa would earn on the money market.

9.2. LOAN: CENTRAL CRICKET FRANCHISE (PTY) LTD

Balance at beginning of the year - -
Loan raised 1 823 -
Interest accrued 170 -

Balance at end of the year 1 993 -

Consisting of:
Long term portion of the loan 1 681 -
Short term portion of the loan 312 -

Balance at end of the year 1 993 -

During the year under review a loan agreement was signed related to the Central
Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd. The loan bears interest at 8%, repayable by way of
monthly instalments with the final instalment being August 2013.

9.3. LOAN: 2007 ICC 20 20 WC (SOUTH AFRICA)

Amount due to 2007 ICC 20 20 WC (South Africa) (5 769) -
Amount due from 2007 ICC 20 20 WC (South Africa) 13 976 -

Balance at end of the year 8 207 -

Due to brief planning horizon in respect of T20 championship, the United Cricket
Board of South Africa and Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd acted as a cash funding
mechanism for the event.  The amounts outstanding are effectively recoverable
(payable) from (to) the International Cricket Council.  The amounts outstanding
are interest free and unsecured.
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 22 045 29 623
Less: Provision for doubtful debt (40) -

Net trade receivables 22 005 29 623
ICC Distributions 13 934 61 212
Employee loans 19 100
Prepayment - 61
Other receivables - 66

35 958 91 062

Total trade receivables (gross of allowances) held by UCBSA as at 30 April 2008
amounted to R22.0 million (2007: R29.6 million). The average trade receivables day
 is 60 days.  No interest is charged on trade receivables.

Process for accepting new customers

Applications are assessed individually and are generally linked to aspects of cricket
business, being either related parties or generally “blue chip” commercial partners.
The trade receivables balance at year end is not insured.

Included in the UCBSA’s total trade receivables balance are accounts receivable
with the following carrying amounts:

South African Airways 1 254 2 508
Standard Bank Limited 2 394 2 379
Coca Cola Southern Africa (Pty) Ltd - 1 208
Standard Bank Limited 9 089 9 325
CSI International Holdings SA 4 421 5 417
Mutual & Federal 1 200 846
Central Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd - 2 130

18 358 23 813

Percentage of total trade receivables 83% 80%

There are no other customers (current or prior year) who represent more than 5%
of the total trade receivables balance.

At the reporting date, the UCBSA’s trade receivable balance is disaggregated
into the following product/service classes:

Sponsorships 21 429 28 165
Affiliates and associates 374 778
Other 242 680

22 045 29 623

Included in the UCBSA’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying
amount of Rnil (2007: R3 791 954) which are past due at the reporting date for
which the Board has not provided as there has not been significant change in
credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The board does
not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing of past due, but not impaired

61 – 90 days - -
91 – 120 days - 3 752
Over 120 days 3 084 40

3 084 3 792

The credit terms of the above past due trade receivables have not been renegotiated.

Ageing of past due and impaired

61 – 90 days - -
91 – 120 days - -
Over 120 days 40 -

40 -

Movement in the provision for doubtful debt is analysed as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year - -
Amounts written off as irrecoverable - -
Provision raised during the year (40) -

(40) -
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Provision for doubtful debts

Trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for trade receivables include the Board’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in trade
receivables past the average trade receivables days of 60 days, as well as
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default receivables.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Call deposits 142 672 106 650
Bank balances and cash 11 974 25 698

154 646 132 348

12. PROVISION

Opening balance 209 1 298
Used during the year (459) (1 850)
Raised during the year 712 761

Closing balance 462 209

The provision relates solely to leave pay.

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Balance includes the following:

Trade payables 18 062 5 816
Accruals 25 698 35 479
Other payables 988 1 289

44 748 42 584

The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days.
No interest is charged on trade payables.  The UCBSA has financial risk
management in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit period.

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the United Cricket Board of South Africa and other cricket
related parties as disclosed below. The nature of the transactions has not been
disclosed as they are all cricket related.

Trading transactions

Transactions between related parties during the year were at arm's length.
The United Cricket Board of South Africa Group entered into the following
transactions with related parties:

Details of the Western Province Cricket Association and Central Cricket
Franchise (Pty) Ltd loans have been disclosed under note 9.1. and 9.2 respectively.
The related interest received on the above loans have been disclosed in note 4.

Compensation of key management personnel

The CEO is an executive director and his remuneration was as follows:
Short-term benefits 2 080 1 582

All remuneration, including that of management and staff, is reviewed and
approved by the Remuneration Committee having regard to the performance
of individuals and market trends.
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Amount Amount
Amount Amount included in included in

included in included in Trade Trade
Entity Description # Revenue Expenses Receivables Payables

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2008

Boland CU A 109 5 922 11
Border CU A 109 5 185 - -
Eastern CU A 121 5 608 - -
Eastern Province CB A 109 5 322 - -
Free State CU A 167 5 310 - -
Gauteng CB A 40 6 954 - -
Griqualand West CB A 95 6 135 - -
KwaZulu Natal CU A 151 7 716 - 52
Northens CU A 118 6 780 - -
North West CU A 57 5 643
Western Province CA A 114 7 757 - -
Border Kei AM 16 849 - -
Limpopo AM 75 1 071 350 -
KZN Inland AM 67 1 819 24 -
Mpumalanga AM 67 944 - -
South West Districts AM 95 1 906 - -
Gauteng Strikers s21 PS 8 802 3 438 - 264
Boland (Pty) Limited PS - 408 - -
Border Bears (Pty) Limited PS - 824 - -
Easterns (Pty) Limited PS 5 424 - -
Jumbos Cricket (Pty) Limited PS 1 845 1 621 - -
Cricket Free State (Pty) Limited PS 12 1 468 - -
Griqua Diamonds (Pty) Limited PS - 501 - -
KZN (Pty) Limited F 2 628 5 957 - 363
Titans Cricket (Pty) Limited PS 2 960 1 615 - -
North West Dragons (Pty) Limited PS 9 714 - -
Western Province (Pty) Limited PS 4 606 701 - -
Central Cricket BFN (Pty) Ltd F - 5 871 - 117
Cricket Eastern Cape (Pty) Limited F - 5 835 119 -
Eastern Titans (Pty) Limited F - 6 761 - 384
New Heights Cricket (Pty) Limited F - 5 004 - 91
Western Cape Cricket (Pty) Limited F - 5 603 - 371

22 377 121 666 493 1 65

2007

Boland CU A 130 4 551 44 -
Border CU A 160 3 856 83 -
Eastern CU A 129 3 726 35 -
Eastern Province CB A 150 4 307 85 -
Free State CU A 129 3 996 52 -
Gauteng CB A 70 4 887 - -
Griqualand West CB A 101 4 022 40 -
KwaZulu Natal CU A 202 4 544 84 102
Northens CU A 195 5 874 53 -
North West CU A 134 3 901 37 -
Western Province CA A 189 4 418 92 73
Border Kei A 38 1 468 128 -
Limpopo A 53 1 949 - -
KZN Inland A 35 1 888 - 2
Mpumalanga A 38 1 560 - -
South West Districts A 63 1 894 - -
Boland (Pty) Ltd PS - 423 - -
Border Bears (Pty) Ltd PS - 787 - -
Easterns (Pty) Ltd PS 5 477 - -
Jumbos Cricket (Pty) Ltd PS 1 845 1 790 - -
Cricket Free State (Pty) Ltd PS 68 1 361 - -
Gauteng Strikers s21 PS 8 841 3 766 45 28
Griqua Diamonds (Pty) Ltd PS - 536 - -
KZN (Pty) Ltd PS 2 628 1 022 - 1
Titans Cricket (Pty) Ltd PS 2 960 2 045 - -
North West Dragons (Pty) Ltd PS 9 726 - -
Western Province (Pty) Ltd PS 4 606 2 555 - -
Central Cricket Franchise BFN (Pty) Ltd F - 5 329 - -
Cricket Eastern Cape (Pty) Ltd F - 5 415 - 159
Eastern Titans (Pty) Ltd F
New Heights Cricket (Pty) Ltd F - 5 678 - -
KZN (Pty) Ltd F - 6 413 - 61
New Heights Cricket (Pty) Ltd F - 5 365 - 2
Western Cape Cricket (Pty) Ltd F - 5 554 - -

22 778 106 083 778 428

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received. No expense
has been recognised in the period for bad debts or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.

# The abbreviations represent the following; A- Affiliate, F- Franchise, AM- Associate member, PS- Professional (Stadium)
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15. RISK PROFILE

Cash and cash equivalents 154 646 132 348

The UCBSA is not exposed to debt and UCBSA has no equity as it is an association not for gain and a public benefit organisation.
 The UCBSA manages its capital (cash and cash equivalents) to ensure it will be able to continue as a going concern.

Interest rate and liquidity risk

The United Cricket Board of South Africa is financed from its working capital.  In the ordinary course of business, the entity
receives cash from its operations and is required to fund its own working capital.

Foreign currency risk

The entity is exposed to foreign currency risk on certain amounts received from its sponsors and other benefactors. The Financial
Committee reviews its foreign cash flows regularly.

Credit risk management

Potential concentrations of credit risk consist principally of accounts receivable.  At the year end, the entity considers that there
are no significant concentrations of credit risk against which adequate provision has not been made.

Fair value

All financial instruments have been recognised in the balance sheet at fair value. There is no difference between their fair values
and carrying values.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates as at balance sheet date. A 100 basis
point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates. If interest rates had been
100 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the UCBSA’s defict for the year ended 30 April 2008 would
decrease by R1.8 million (2007: surplus will increase by R1.5 million). This is mainly attributable to the UCBSA’s exposure to
variable interest rates on the amounts owed by its subsidiary and other related parties.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The UCBSA is mainly exposed to the US Dollar currency.  The following table details the UCBSA's sensitivity to a 10% increase
and decrease in the Rand against the US Dollar.  10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally
and represents management's assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
foreign currency denominated revenue items and adjusts their translation during the year for a 10% change in foreign currency
rates.

Weakening of Rand against US dollar by 10 % - Deficit 6 202 22 109
Strengthening of Rand against US dollar by 10% - Surplus 6 202 22 109

The above effect is mainly attributable to the exposure of the UCBSA to receipts from ICC distributions, international television
rights as well as a rights fee from India in respect of games (3 ODIs) in Ireland during the year.

16. KEY ASSUMPTIONS CONCERNING THE FUTURE AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

As required to be disclosed in terms of AC 101 - Presentation of Financial Statements there are no significant assumptions made
concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period.

17. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Deferred taxation assets
Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available in future against
which the deferred taxation assets can be utilised. The future availability of taxable profits is based on management’s judgments
regarding future business plans.

Asset lives and residual values Property, plant and equipment are depreciated to their residual values over their expected useful
lives.  Residual values and asset lives are assessed annually based on management’s judgment of relevant factors and conditions.
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18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION

Retirement benefits are provided for employees by means of a provident fund to which the UCBSA contributes. The fund is
governed by the Pension Funds Act of 1956. All employees contribute to the fund.

The fund in operation at 30 April 2008 was the United Cricket Board of South Africa Provident Fund administered by Liberty
Life.  This is a defined contribution plan where the retirement benefits are determined with reference to the employee’s contributions.
No actuarial valuation is required.

Provident fund contributions 1 492 1 566

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Management of the United Cricket Board of South Africa is not aware of any contingent liabilities and commitments at year end
other than the operating lease commitment disclosed in note 20.

20. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Minimum lease payments under operating leases for equipment recognised
as an expense in the year 174 369

At the balance sheet date, the Board has outstanding commitments under
non-cancellableCoperating equipment leases to external parties, which fall
due as follows:
Within one year 135 166
Between two to five years 393 144

528 310

21. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Generally Accepted Accounting Standards
on a basis consistent with the prior year, except for the adoption of the following new or revised Standards and Interpretations
applicable to the UCBSA:

New Standards

AC 144 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Amendments to Standards

AC 101 - Presentation of Financial Statements - Capital Disclosures (Amendments)
AC 114 (Revised) - Borrowing Costs

New Interpretations

AC 440 - Applying the Restatement Approach under AC 124 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
AC 441 - Scope of AC 139
AC 442 - Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
AC 443 - Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not have a material impact on the UCBSA’s results and
financial position. The additional disclosure requirements have been implemented in the financial statements, where applicable.

The following Standards and Interpretations are not yet effective and will be adopted in future years:

New Standards

AC 125 (Revised) - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Amendments)
AC 140 - Business Combinations
AC145 - Operating Segments
Amendments to various standards resulting from the May 2008 annual improvements to IFRS.

The General Council anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will not have a material
impact on the financial statements of UCBSA.

22. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

At the date of finalising this report the following significant post balance sheet events exist:

In terms of amendments to the Income Tax Act, Cricket is now able to amalgamate its professional [Cricket South Africa (Pty)
Ltd] and amateur cricket activities [United Cricket Board of South Africa].  This is intended to be achieved by converting Cricket
South Africa (Pty) Ltd to a S21 entity and then making a disposal from the United Cricket Board of South Africa entity in favor
of the S21 entity. Moving to such a structure will enable all expenses, whether amateur or professional, to be deducted against
all revenue before income tax is assessed.  The General Council has voted to amalgamate its professional and cricket activities.
Before the amalgamation occurs advice has been obtained from the South African Revenue Service (“SARS”) that ideally the
loans between the current entities should first be forgiven so as to avoid any tax consequences.  SARS is deliberating the process
and the UCBSA is awaiting the outcome.
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UNITED CRICKET BOARD OF SOUTH AFRICA
STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL OF
THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2008

The General Council is responsible for the preparation and integrity
of Annual Financial Statements that fairly present the state of affairs
of the United Cricket Board of South Africa (“UCBSA”), and other
information contained in this annual report.

To enable the General Council to meet these responsibilities:

• The General Council sets policies and principles, and management
implements systems of internal control and information systems
in a cost effective manner, aimed at providing reasonable assurance
that assets are safeguarded and the risk of error, fraud or loss
is eliminated. These controls, contained in established policies
and procedures, include the proper delegation of responsibilities
and authorities within a clearly defined framework, effective
accounting procedures, and adequate segregation of duties.

• The Finance Committee, under the leadership of the Treasurer,
plays an important oversight role in all matters relating to
financial administration and internal control, accounting policies,
and reporting requirements.

• The Audit and Risk Committee, comprising independent external
members and constituted in terms of the requirements of sound
corporate governance practices, assists the General Council to
discharge its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets, the
operation of adequate systems and control processes, and the
preparation of annual financial statements in compliance with
all applicable legal requirements and accounting standards.

Based on the above and to the best of their knowledge and belief,
the General Council is satisfied that no material breakdown in the
operation of the systems of internal control and procedures has
occurred during the year under review.

The General Council believes that the UCBSA will be a going
concern in the year ahead and, accordingly, the annual financial
statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.

It is the responsibility of the independent auditors to report on the
financial statements. Their report to the members of the UCBSA is
set out on page 63 of this annual report.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with the
South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the United Cricket Board
of South Africa and its 100% subsidiary company, Cricket South
Africa, will be presented together, over and above the separate
financial statements for the two entities.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 64 to 77 were
approved by the General Council on 11 July 2008 and are signed
on its behalf by:

PRESIDENT: N ARENDSE                 TREASURER: H VAN WYK

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE UNITED CRICKET
BOARD OF SOUTH AFRICA

We have audited the annual financial statements of the United
Cricket Board of South Africa which comprise the balance sheet as
at 30 April 2008, the income statement, the statement of changes
in reserves and the cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes, as set out on pages 64 to 77.

General Council’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The General Council is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with South
African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.
This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting principles used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the General Council, as well as evaluation of
the overall financial statement presentation.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the United Cricket Board of South
Africa as at 30 April 2008, and of its financial performance and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the South
African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Auditors
Per M Ajoodha
Partner

11 July 2008

Buildings 1 and 2
Deloitte Place
The Woodlands
Woodlands Drive
Woodmead Sandton

National Executive:GG Gelink Chief Executive, AE Sweigers Chief Operating Officer,
GM Pinnock Audit, DL Kennedy Tax & Legal and Financial Advisory, L Geeringh Consulting,
L Bam Corporate Finance , CR Beukman Finance , TJ Brown Clients & Markets,
NT Mtoba Chairman of the Board.



Revenue 57 718 146 816

Development sponsorship 6 705 6 573
Supplier program 553 1 531
National sponsorship 9 128 9 010
Sport and Recreation South Africa grants 2 454 850
Lottery grant - 3 880
World Cup 2003 legacy income - 2 880
ICC distributions 20 028 102 623
Administration fees recovered:
      Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd 14 20 803 18 964
Affiliation fees 11 11
Sundry income 36 494

Cricket expenses (105 807) (91 006)

Administrative expenses (26 587) (24 345)
Amateur cricket (20 635) (21 458)
Cricket development programs (1 349) (975)
Cricket operations and umpires (1 769) (3 097)
Sport and Recreation South Africa expenditure 2 (454) (850)
World Cup 2003 legacy expense - (2 880)
Women’s cricket (2 248) (1 976)
Parastatal grants (180) (180)
Disabled cricket (207) (180)
Direct allocations to amateur bodies (52 378) (35 065)

(Deficit) surplus before investment income
  and net foreign exchange gain 3 (48 089) 55 810

Investment income 4 45 216 35 030
Net foreign exchange gain 1 079 -

(Deficit) surplus for the year (1 794) 90 840
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ASSETS

Non-current assets 302 870 267 470

Long-term loan: Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd 6 280 000 240 000
Property, vehicles and equipment 7 417 740
Long-term prepayment: ICC subscription - 6 531
Investments 8 26 24
Loan: Western Province Cricket Association 9.1 22 427 20 175

Current assets 217 090 251 924

Short-term portion of loan: Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd 6 155 874 65 285
Loan: 2007 ICC 20 20 WC (South Africa) 9.2 13 976 -
Trade and other receivables 10 17 957 68 235
Short-term portion of prepayment: ICC subscription 6 808 6 377
South African Revenue Services 1 579 1 472
Cash and cash equivalents 11 20 896 110 555

Total assets 519 960 519 394

RESERVES AND LIABILITIES

Reserves 512 716 514 510

Non-distributable reserve 371 522 371 522
Trust funds 349 349
2003 ICC Cricket World Cup Distribution funds - 17 371
Accumulated funds 140 845 125 268

Current liabilities 7 244 4 884

Trade and other payables 12 6 893 4 767
Provision 13 351 117

Total reserves and liabilities 519 960 519 394
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2003 ICC
Cricket

Non- World Cup
distributable Trust distribution Accumulated

reserve funds funds funds Total
R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Balance as at 1 May 2006 as restated 371 522 349 17 371 34 428 423 670

Surplus for the year - - - 90 840 90 840

Balance as at 30 April 2007 371 522 349 17 371 125 268 514 510

Deficit for the year - - - (1 794) (1 794)
Transfer to accumulated Funds - - (17 371) 17 371 -

Balance as at 30 April 2008 371 522 349 - 140 845 512 716
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CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Deficit) surplus for the year (1 795) 90 840

Adjustments for: (44 709) (35 095)

Depreciation 317 493
(Profit) loss on disposal of property, vehicles and equipment (42) 288
Movement in provision 234 (843)
Fair value adjustment on investments (2) (3)
Interest received (45 216) (35 030)

Operating (deficit) surplus before working capital changes (46 504) 55 745
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables 50 279 (60 184)
Decrease (increase) in prepayment ICC subscription 6 100 (12 908)
Increase in South African Revenue Services receivable (107) (227)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 2 125 (6 928)
Decrease in receipts in advance - (2 880)

Cash generated from (utilised by) operating activities 11 893 (27 382)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, vehicles and equipment (12) (62)
Proceeds on disposal of property, vehicles and equipment 60 -
Interest received 45 216 35 030
Net (proceeds) repayment on Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd loan (130 588) 94 850
Proceeds on Western Province Cricket Association loan (2 252) (1 632)
Proceeds on 2007 ICC 20 20 WC (South Africa) Loan (13 976) -

Cash (utilised by) generated from investing activities (101 552) 128 186

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (89 659) 100 804

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 110 555 9 751

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 20 896 110 555
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies of the UCBSA, which are set out below, comply with the South African Statements of Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of non-trading
financial asset investments, financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading, and financial assets designated as fair value
through profit and loss. Non-current assets and disposal groups held-for-sale, where applicable, are stated at the lower of its
carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The principal accounting policies of the Board are consistent with those applied in the previous year, except for the adoption of
new and revised standards and interpretations as detailed in note 21.

1.2 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the United Cricket Board of South
Africa and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
Cash and settlement discounts, rebates, VAT and other indirect taxes are excluded from revenue. Revenue comprises income from
the sale of TV rights, sponsorship revenue, event revenue, gate revenue and other revenue. Revenue due in terms of contracts is
recognised according to the terms of the contract, while all other income is accounted for on an accrual basis or in accordance
with the relevant transactions or agreements.

1.3 Investment income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the interest rate applicable.

1.4 Investments

Investments are carried at fair value as determined by reference to the quoted market values or other appropriate measures.

1.5 Property, vehicles and equipment

Property, vehicles and equipment (owned and leased) are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method as follows:

Motor vehicles 4 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Office equipment 10 years
Furniture & fittings 10 years
Leasehold improvements over period of the lease

All assets are reviewed annually for impairment.

Useful lives, depreciation methods and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date. No depreciation is charged if
the residual values are more than the carrying value.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
value of the asset and is recognised in income.

1.6 Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets may be impaired.

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of any individual asset, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

1.7 Leases

Leases for assets under which the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Obligations incurred under operating leases are recognised in the income statement in equal instalments over the period
of the lease.
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1.8 Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the rates of exchange ruling on the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Gains and losses arising from the settlement of such transactions are recognised in the income statement.

1.9 Post-employment benefit costs

The UCBSA operates a defined contribution plan, the assets of which are generally held in a separate trustee-administered fund.
The fund is funded by payments from employees and the UCBSA. The UCBSA’s contributions are recognised in the income
statement during the period in which the employee renders the related service.

1.10 Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivables, accounts
payables and borrowings. These instruments are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs, when the UCBSA becomes
a party to the contractual agreement. The financial instruments are subsequently measured as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents - measured at fair value.

Investments - measured at fair value.

Trade and other receivables - stated at their nominal value and reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable
amounts.

Trade and other payables - stated at nominal values.

Borrowings - carried at original debt value less principal repayments and amortisations.

1.11 Receipts in advance

Monies received which are not yet due, in terms of the contracts, are deferred and recorded as receipts in advance.

1.12 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

1.13 Provisions

Provision for leave is recognised as a present constructive obligation when, as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

1.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2. SPORT AND RECREATION SOUTH AFRICA

Having seen the allocation of funds from the Department of Sport and Recreation South Africa, we are satisfied that the amounts
were spent in accordance with para 4.11 of the Memorandum of Agreement.

Subsidies received and spent from Sport and Recreation South Africa

Categories

Transformation/ more people 124 850
Special projects: School sport 330 -

454 850

The subsidies from the Department of Sport and Recreation South Africa
were deposited on the following dates;

•   R124 000 deposited on 31 October 2007
•   R330 000 deposited on 31 March 2008

All equipment purchased has been expensed.
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3. (DEFICIT) SURPLUS BEFORE INVESTMENT
 INCOME AND NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAIN

(Deficit) surplus before investment income and net foreign
exchange gain, have been arrived at after charging the following items:

Auditor’s remuneration: 206 127
- Fees 206 122
- Other services - 5

Depreciation 317 493

Fair value adjustment in investment (2) (3)

General Council costs 1 496 1 242

- Non-executive remuneration included in governance costs 500 525
   - Senior general council office bearers

     - Honoraria 350 385
  - Other general council office bearers
     - Honoraria 150 140

Operating lease charges
- Premises 311 264
- Equipment 96 369

(Profit) loss on disposal of property, vehicles and equipment (42) 288

Salary and related employment costs:
- Administration related staff 10 909 8 946

Number of employees:
- Administration related staff 23 23

4. INVESTMENT INCOME

Interest received - external 16 814 5 875
- Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd 28 402 29 155

Total investment income 45 216 35 030

5. TAXATION

The UCBSA is an association not for gain and a public benefit organisation
registered in terms of section 30 of the Income Tax Act, 1962. Due to its
public benefit organisation status, the receipts and accruals of UCBSA
are not subject to South African income tax.

6. LOAN: CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (PTY) LTD

Balance at beginning of the year 305 285 400 135
Interest accrued 28 402 29 155

333 687 429 290
Increase in loan 102 187 -
Less: Repaid - (124 005)

Balance at end of the year 435 874 305 285

Consisting of:
Subordinated portion of the loan 280 000 240 000
Current portion of the loan 155 874 65 285

Balance at end of the year 435 874 305 285

The loan arose out of the sale to Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd of an intangible financial asset, which represented the value of
future economic benefits of sponsorship agreements ceded by the United Cricket Board of South Africa to Cricket South Africa
(Pty) Ltd. The intangible financial asset gave rise to a corresponding non-distributable reserve, amounting to R371 521 841.

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at a rate of 4.5% below the prime overdraft rate. The loan is repayable by mutual
agreement between the United Cricket Board of South Africa and Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd.

The United Cricket Board of South Africa has deferred its right to claim or accept payment of R280 million (2007: R240 million)
of this loan until the assets of Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd, fairly valued, exceed its liabilities. At 30 April 2008, there was a
deficit in shareholders’ equity of Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd of R273 105 000 (2007: R239 002 000).

The General Council is of the view that the loan is not impaired and will be recovered.
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Motor Computer Office Furniture & Leasehold
vehicles equipment equipment fittings improvements Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

7. PROPERTY, VEHICLES
AND EQUIPMENT

2008

Cost
At beginning of year 231 191 62 - 2 289 2 773
Additions - - 12 - - 12
Disposals (231) (13) (19) - - (263)

At end of year - 178 55 - 2 289 2 522

Accumulated depreciation

At beginning of year 188 113 18 - 1 714 2 033
Current year 43 39 6 - 229 317
Disposals (231) (5) (9) - - (245)

At year end - 147 15 - 1 943 2 105

Carrying amount – 2008 - 31 40 - 346 417

2007

Cost
At beginning of year 319 4 884 227 706 2 289 8 425
Additions - 62 - - - 62
Disposal (88) (4 755) (165) (706) - (5 714)

At end of year 231 191 62 - 2 289 2 773

Accumulated depreciation

At beginning of year 218 4 723 70 470 1 485 6 966
Current year 58 113 23 70 229 493
Disposal (88) (4 723) (75) (540) - (5 426)

At year end 188 113 18 - 1 714 2 033

Carrying amount – 2007 43 78 44 - 575 740

2008 2007
R’000 R’000

8. INVESTMENTS

Comprise the following:

100% shareholding in subsidiary company:
Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd – 100 shares at cost of R1 each - -

Listed investment:
Liberty International Plc – 166 shares at cost 2 2

2 2

Market value of listed investment 26 24

9.1. LOAN: WESTERN PROVINCE CRICKET ASSOCIATION

Balance at beginning of the year 20 175 18 543
Interest accrued 2 252 1 632

Balance at end of the year 22 427 20 175

The loan arose out of a General Council decision to support Western Province
Cricket Association (“WPCA”) in the purchase of the Newlands Cricket Ground.

A loan and cession agreement has been signed and all amounts outstanding shall be repaid by
no later than 30 April 2011. Earlier repayment of the loan is at WPCA’s discretion. The loan is
secured and bears interest at equivalent rates which the United Cricket Board of South Africa
would earn on the money market.
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9.2. LOAN: 2007 ICC 20 20 (SOUTH AFRICA)

Balance at beginning of the year - -
Loan amount in current year 13 976 -

Balance at end of the year 13 976 -

Due to brief planning horizon in respect of T20 championship, UCBSA and
Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd acted as a cash funding mechanism for the event.
The amounts outstanding are effectively recoverable from the International
Cricket Council. The amounts outstanding are interest free and unsecured.

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 4 063 6 957
Less: Provision for doubtful debt (40) -

Net trade receivables 4 023 6 957
ICC Distributions 13 934 61 212
Other receivables - 66

17 957 68 235

Total trade receivables (gross of allowances) held by the Board as at 30 April 2008
amounted to R4.1 million (2007: R7.0 million). The average trade receivables
days is 60 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables.

Process for accepting new customers

Applications are assessed individually and are generally linked to aspects of cricket
business, being either related parties or generally “blue chip” commercial partners.
The trade receivables balance at year end is not insured.

Included in the Board’s total trade receivables balance are accounts receivable
with the following carrying amounts:

South African Airways 1 254 2 508
Standard Bank Limited 2 394 2 379
Coca Cola Southern Africa (Pty) Ltd - 1 208
Limpopo Cricket Union 350 -

3 998 6 095

Percentage of total trade receivables 98% 88%

There are no other customers (current or prior year) who represent more than 5%
of the total trade receivables balance.

At the reporting date, the UCBSA’s trade receivable balance is disaggregated into the
following product/service classes:

Sponsorships 3 689 6 179
Affiliates and associates 374 778

4 063 6 957
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 10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Included in the UCBSA’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount
of Rnil (2007: R3 791 954) which are past due at the reporting date for which the
UCBSA has not provided as there has not been any significant change in credit quality
and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The board does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Ageing of past due, but not impaired

61 – 90 days - -
91 – 120 days - 3 752
Over 120 days - 40

- 3 792

The credit terms of the above past due trade receivables have not been renegotiated.

Ageing of past due and impaired

61 – 90 days - -
91 – 120 days - -
Over 120 days 40 -

40 -

Movement in the provision for doubtful debt is analysed as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year - -
Amounts written off as irrecoverable - -
Provision raised during the year (40) -

(40) -

Provision for doubtful debts

Trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for trade receivables include the UCBSA’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in trade receivables past the
average trade receivables days of 60 days, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default receivables.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Call deposits 19 672 105 006
Bank balances and cash 1 224 5 549

20 896 110 555

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Balance includes the following:

Trade payables 1 828 1 170
Accruals 4 077 2 308
Other payables 988 1 289

6 893 4 767

The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days.
No interest is charged on trade payables. The UCBSA has financial risk
management in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit period.

13. PROVISION

Opening balance 117 960
Used during the year (368) (1 424)
Raised during the year 602 581

Closing balance 351 117

The provision relates solely to leave pay.
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14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the United Cricket Board of South Africa and its subsidiary, Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd, and other cricket
related parties as disclosed below. The nature of the transactions has not been disclosed as they are all cricket related.

Trading transactions

Transactions between related parties during the year were at arm's length. The United Cricket Board of South Africa entered into
the following transactions with related parties:

Amount Amount
Amount Amount included in included in

included in included in Trade Trade
Entity Description # Revenue Expenses Receivables Payables

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2008

Boland CU A 109 5 820 - 11
Border CU A 109 5 185 - -
Eastern CU A 121 5 608 - -
Eastern Province CB A 109 5 322 - -
Free State CU A 167 5 234 - -
Gauteng CB A 40 6 950 - -
Griqualand West CB A 95 5 079 - -
KwaZulu Natal CU A 151 6 496 - -
Northens CU A 118 6 776 - 52
North West CU A 57 5 643 - -
Western Province CA A 114 6 636 - -
Border Kei AM 16 849 - -
Limpopo CU AM 75 1 071 350 -
KZN Inland AM 67 1 819 24 -
Mpumalanga AM 67 944 - -
South West Districts AM 95 1 906 - -
Gauteng Strikers s21 PS - 27 - -
Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd S 49 205 - - -

50 715 71 365 374 63

2007

Boland CU A 130 4 551 44 -
Border CU A 160 3 856 83 -
Eastern CU A 129 3 726 35 -
Eastern Province CB A 150 4 307 85 -
Free State CU A 129 3 996 52 -
Gauteng CB A 70 4 754 - -
Griqualand West CB A 101 4 022 40 -
KwaZulu Natal CU A 202 4 063 84 102
Northens CU A 195 5 874 53 -
North West CU A 134 3 901 37 -
Western Province CA A 189 4 418 92 73
Border Kei AM 38 1 468 128 -
Limpopo AM 53 1 949 - -
KZN Inland AM 35 1 888 - 2
Mpumalanga AM 38 1 560 - -
South West Districts AM 63 1 894 - -
Gauteng Strikers s21 PS 39 42 45 -
Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd S 48 119 - - -

49 974 56 269 778 177

# The abbreviations represent the following; A- Affiliate, AM- Associate member, PS- Professional (Stadium), S - Subsidiary

Cricket South Africa (Proprietary) Limited

Included in the above is a fee of R20 803 000 (2007: R18 964 000), in respect of certain administrative services performed
by the United Cricket Board of South Africa for Cricket South Africa (Pty) Limited. This amount recouped is an appropriate
allocation of costs incurred by the relevant administration departments. The balance relates to interest received on the subordinated
long term-loan (refer note 6).

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received. No expense
has been recognised in the period for bad debts or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.

Details of the Western Province loan have been disclosed under note 9.1.
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2008 2007
R’000 R’000

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Compensation of key management personnel

The CEO is an executive director and his remuneration was as follows:
Short-term benefits 2 080 1 582

All remuneration, including that of management and staff, is reviewed and
approved by the Remuneration Committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

15. RISK PROFILE

Cash and cash equivalents 20 896 110 555

The UCBSA is not exposed to debt and UCBSA has no equity as it is an association
not for gain and a public benefit organisation. The UCBSA manages its capital
(cash and cash equivalents) to ensure it will be able to continue as a going concern.

Interest rate and liquidity risk

The United Cricket Board of South Africa is financed from its working capital.
In the ordinary course of business, the entity receives cash from its operations and is
required to fund its own working capital.

Foreign currency risk

The entity is exposed to foreign currency risk on certain amounts received from its
sponsors and other benefactors. The Financial Committee reviews
its foreign cash flows regularly.

Credit risk management

Potential concentrations of credit risk consist principally of accounts receivable.
At the year end, the entity considers that there are no significant concentrations of
credit risk against which adequate provision has not been made.

Fair value

All financial instruments have been recognised in the balance sheet at fair value.
There is no difference between their fair values and carrying values.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest
rates as at balance sheet date. A 100 basis point increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates. If interest rates
had been 100 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant,
the UCBSA’s defict for the year ended 30 April 2008 would decrease by R4.8 million
(2007: surplus will increase by R4.4 million). This is mainly attributable to the
Board’s exposure to variable interest rates on the amounts owed by its subsidiary
and other related parties.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The UCBSA is mainly exposed to the US Dollar currency. The following table
details the UCBSA's sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Rand against
the US Dollar. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally and represents management's assessment of the possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes foreign currency
denominated revenue items and adjusts their translation during the year for
a 10% change in foreign currency rates.

Weakening of Rand against US dollar by 10 % - Deficit 2 393 10 262
Strengthening of Rand against US dollar by 10% - Surplus 2 393 10 262

The above effect is mainly attributable to the exposure of the UCBSA to
receipts from ICC distributions during the year.

16. KEY ASSUMPTIONS CONCERNING THE FUTURE AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

As required to be disclosed in terms of AC 101 - Presentation of Financial Statements
there are no significant assumptions made concerning the future and other sources of
estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period.
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2008 2007
R’000 R’000

17. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Below is the key assumption concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Asset lives and residual values

Property, vehicles and equipment are depreciated to their residual values over their expected useful lives. Residual values and
asset lives are assessed annually based on management’s judgment of relevant factors and conditions.

18. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION

Retirement benefits are provided for employees by means of a provident fund to which the UCBSA contributes. The fund is
governed by the Pension Funds Act of 1956. All employees contribute to the fund.

The fund in operation at 30 April 2008 was the United Cricket Board of South Africa Provident Fund administered by Liberty
Life. This is a defined contribution plan where the retirement benefits are determined with reference to the employee’s contributions.

No actuarial valuation is required.

Provident fund contributions 665 655

19. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Minimum lease payments under operating leases for equipment recognised
as an expense in the year 96 369

At the balance sheet date outstanding commitments under non-cancellable
operating equipment leases to external parties, which fall due, are as follows:
Within one year 40 166
Between two to five years - 144

40 310

20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Management of the United Cricket Board of South Africa is not aware of any
contingent liabilities and commitments at year end other than the operating lease
commitment disclosed in note 19.

21. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Generally Accepted Accounting Standards
on a basis consistent with the prior year, except for the adoption of the following new or revised Standards and Interpretations



77

UNITED CRICKET BOARD OF SOUTH AFRICA

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
30 April 2008

applicable to the UCBSA:

New Standards

AC 144 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Amendments to Standards

AC 101 - Presentation of Financial Statements - Capital Disclosures (Amendments)
AC 114 (Revised) - Borrowing Costs
Amendments to various standards resulting from the May 2008 annual improvements to IFRS.

New Interpretations

AC 440 - Applying the Restatement Approach under AC 124 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
AC 441 - Scope of AC 139
AC 442 - Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
AC 443 - Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not have a material impact on the UCBSA’s results and
financial position. The additional disclosure requirements have been implemented in the financial statements, where applicable.

The following Standards and Interpretations are not yet effective and will be adopted in future years:

New Standards

AC 125 (Revised) - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Amendments)
AC 140 - Business Combinations
AC145 - Operating Segments

The General Council anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will not have a material
impact on the financial statements of UCBSA.

22. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

At the date of finalising this report the following significant post balance sheet events exist:

In terms of amendments to the Income Tax Act, Cricket is now able to amalgamate its professional [Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd]
and amateur [United Cricket Board of South Africa] cricket activities. This is intended to be achieved by converting Cricket South
Africa (Pty) Ltd to a S21 entity and then making a disposal from the United Cricket Board of South Africa entity in favor of the
S21 entity. Moving to such a structure will enable all expenses, whether amateur or professional, to be deducted against all
revenue before income tax is assessed. Before the amalgamation occurs advice has been obtained from the South African Revenue
Service (“SARS”) that ideally the loans between the current entities should first be forgiven so as to avoid any tax consequences.
SARS is deliberating the process and the UCBSA is awaiting the outcome.
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DIRECTORS’ APPROVAL OF THE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The annual financial statements set out on pages 80 to 93 are the
responsibility of the directors.

The directors are responsible for selecting and adopting sound
accounting practices, for maintaining an adequate and effective
system of accounting records, for safeguarding of assets, and for
developing and maintaining a system of internal control that, among
other things, will ensure the preparation of financial statements that
achieve fair presentation.

To the best of their knowledge and belief, the directors are satisfied
that no material breakdown in the operation of the systems of internal

control and procedures has occurred during the year under review.

After conducting appropriate procedures, the directors are satisfied
that the company will be a going concern for the foreseeable
future and have adopted the going concern basis in preparing
the financial statements.

It is the responsibility of the independent auditors to report on the
financial statements. Their report to the member of Cricket South
Africa (Proprietary) Limited is set out on page 79 of this annual
report.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with
South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.
The annual financial statements are based on appropriate accounting
policies that are consistently applied and supported by reasonable
and prudent judgements and estimates.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 80 to 93 were
approved by the board of directors on 11 July 2008 and are signed
on its behalf by:

N ARENDSE (DIRECTOR)                  H VAN WYK (DIRECTOR)
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
TO THE MEMBER OF CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA
(PROPRIETARY) LIMITED

We have audited the annual financial statements of Cricket South
Africa (Proprietary) Limited, which comprise the directors’ report,
the balance sheet as at 30 April 2008, the income statement,
the statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 80 to 93.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of these financial statements in accordance with the South African
Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and in the
manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.
This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluation of the overall financial statement presentation.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the company as at 30 April 2008,
and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with the South African Statements of
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and in the manner required
by the Companies Act of South Africa.

Emphasis of matter
Without qualifying our opinion above, we draw attention to the fact
that the company is technically insolvent, with the liabilities exceeding
assets by R273 105 000 (2007: R239 002 000) as indicated in the
balance sheet.  United Cricket Board of South Africa has undertaken
to provide financial assistance in order for the company to continue
as a going concern, by subordinating R280 000 000 (2007:
240 000 000) of its loan account in favour of other creditors until
such time as the assets, fairly valued, exceed liabilities.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Auditors
Per M Ajoodha
Partner

11 July 2008

Buildings 1 and 2
Deloitte Place
The Woodlands
Woodlands Drive
Woodmead Sandton

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 30 April 2008

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report for the year
ended 30 April 2008.

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS

The company’s main business is the promotion, funding and
management of the commercial and professional aspects of cricket
in South Africa.

REVIEW OF RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

The results of the company and the state of its affairs are fully set
out in the accompanying financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The company has an authorised capital of 120 ordinary shares of
R1 each, of which 100 have been issued. All issued shares are
held by the United Cricket Board of South Africa.

DIVIDENDS

No dividends were declared or recommended during the year
(2007 – Rnil).

DIRECTORS

The directors of the company during the financial year and up to
the date of this report have been:

N Arendse
A O’Connor
L Crawley
M Ebrahim
F Gericke
N K Gqobose  (Appointed 10 May 2007)
P K Harris
T Irish
M G Majola  (Chief Executive Officer)
R R Mali  (Resigned 10 May 2007)
V Mgadle  (Resigned 10 May 2007)
L Naidoo
N Orleyn  (Resigned 10 May 2007)
R P Uren  (Appointed 10 May 2007)
H A Van Wyk

SECRETARY

There has been no appointment to the position of secretary to the
company. All secretarial matters are dealt with by the office of the
Chief Executive Officer.

Business address Postal address
Wanderers Club P O Box 55009
21 North Street Northlands
Illovo 2116
Johannesburg

GOING CONCERN

The directors are of the opinion that the company is a going concern.

National Executive:GG Gelink Chief Executive, AE Sweigers Chief Operating Officer,
GM Pinnock Audit, DL Kennedy Tax & Legal and Financial Advisory, L Geeringh Consulting,
L Bam Corporate Finance , CR Beukman Finance , TJ Brown Clients & Markets,
NT Mtoba Chairman of the Board.



Revenue 174 938 258 092

International gates revenue 6 896 10 364
Commissions earned 592 562
International sponsorship 47 732 47 986
Domestic sponsorship 39 981 38 844
International TV income 17 016 118 470
Domestic TV income 29 265 27 016
Supplier program 8 315 8 162
Event income 3 024 3 548
Other income 22 117 3 140

Expenses (165 964) (178 642)

Administrative expenses (9 664) (11 370)
Administration fees incurred: UCBSA 16 (20 803) (18 964)
Domestic competitions funding (16 091) (8 447)
High performance programme (3 596) (3 037)
Marketing expenses (11 857) (12 296)
Direct allocations to franchises (25 767) (24 468)
SA Teams tour costs (29 605) (38 218)
SA Teams remuneration expenses (37 644) (51 475)
TV production costs (10 937) (10 367)

Profit before investment income, finance costs, net foreign
exchange gain (loss), amortisation  and impairment charges 2 8 974 79 450

Investment income 3 2 932 1 225
Finance costs 3 (28 402) (29 155)
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) 1 932 (1 772)

(Loss) profit before impairment and amortisation charges (14 564) 49 748

Impairment of intangible asset 4 - (24 216)

(Loss) profit before amortisation charges (14 564) 25 532

Amortisation of intangible asset 4 (23 617) (31 689)

Loss before taxation (38 181) (6 157)

Taxation 5 4 078 (10 918)

Loss for the year (34 103) (17 075)
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CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED

INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 April 2008



ASSETS

Non-current assets 53 209 70 860

Intangible asset 4 47 234 70 851
Office furniture and equipment 6 207 -
Deferred taxation 7 4 087 9
Loan: Central Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd 8 1 681 -

Current assets 153 295 44 620

Trade and other receivables 9 18 001 22 827
South African Revenue Service 1 232 -
Short-term portion of loan:
  Central Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd 8 312 -
Cash and cash equivalents 10 133 750 21 793

TOTAL ASSETS 206 504 115 480

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves (273 105) (239 002)

Share capital* 11 - -
Accumulated loss (273 105) (239 002)

Non-current liability
Loan: United Cricket Board of South Africa 12 280 000 240 000

Current liabilities 199 609 114 482

Trade and other payables 13 37 855 37 817
Short term portion of loan: United Cricket
 Board of South Africa 12 155 874 65 285
South African Revenue Service - 11 288
Provision 14 111 92
Loan: 2007 ICC 20 20 WC (South Africa) 5 769 -

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 206 504 115 480

* Due to rounding no amount are presented.
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Balance as at 30 April 2006 - (221 927) (221 927)

Loss for the year - (17 075) (17 075)

Balance as at 30 April 2007 - (239 002) (239 002)

Loss for the year - (34 103) (34 103)

Balance as at 30 April 2008 - (273 105) (273 105)
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Loss for the year (34 103) (17 075)

Adjustments for: 45 048 86 151
Amortisation of intangible asset 23 617 31 689
Impairment of intangible asset - 24 216
Loss on disposal of office furniture and equipment - 11
Movent in provision 19 (246)
Depreciation 20 17
Interest received (2 932) (1 225)
Interest paid 28 402 29 155
Deferred taxation movement (4 078) 2 534

Operating profit before working capital changes 10 945 69 076

Adjustments for working capital changes:
Decrease in trade and other receivables 4 826 15 091
(Decrease) increase in South African Revenue Service payable (11 288) 8 464
Increase in trade and other payables 38 15 080
Decrease in receipts in advance - (8 176)
Increase in South African Revenue Service receivable (1 232) -

Net cash generated from operations 3 289 99 535

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of office furniture and equipment (227) -
Interest received 2 932 1 225
Proceeds on Central Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd loan (1 993) -

Net cash generated from investing activities 712 1 225

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net proceeds (repayment) on United Cricket Board of South Africa loan 130 589 (94 850)
Interest paid (28 402) (29 155)
Proceeds on loan: 2007 ICC 20 20 WC (South Africa) 5 769 -

Net cash generated from (used in) financing activities 107 956 (124 005)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 111 957 (23 245)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 21 793 45 038

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 133 750 21 793
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies of the entity, which are set out below, comply with the South African Statements of Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of non-trading
financial asset investments, financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading, and financial assets designated as fair value
through profit and loss. Non-current assets and disposal groups held-for-sale, where applicable, are stated at the lower of its
carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The principal accounting policies of the company are consistent with those applied in the previous year, except for the adoption
of new and revised standards and interpretations as detailed in note 22.

1.2 Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to Cricket South Africa (Proprietary)
Limited and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
Cash and settlement discounts, rebates, VAT and other indirect taxes are excluded from revenue. Revenue comprises income from
the sale of TV rights, sponsorship revenue, event revenue, gate revenue and other revenue. Revenue due in terms of contracts is
recognised according to the terms of the contract, while all other income is accounted for on an accrual basis or in accordance
with the relevant transactions or agreements.

1.3 Investment income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the interest rate applicable

1.4 Taxation

The charge for current taxation is based on the results for the year as adjusted for items which are non-assessable or disallowed.
It is calculated using taxation rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred taxation is accounted for on all temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding taxation bases used in the computation of taxable profit. In
principle, deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred taxation assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the acquisition
of an asset, which does not affect either taxable or accounting income.

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in businesses except where
the company is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred taxation is calculated at the tax rates that reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
company expects to recover the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred taxation is charged or credited in the income
statement, except when it relates to items credited or charged directly to equity, in which case the deferred taxation is also dealt
with in equity.

1.5 Office furniture and equipment

Office furniture and equipment (owned and leased) are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The following rates are used for the depreciation of property, plant and equipment:

Computer equipment 3 years
Furniture & fittings 10 years

All assets are reviewed annually for impairment.

Useful lives, depreciation methods and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date. No depreciation is charged if
the residual values are more than the carrying value.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
value of the asset and is recognised in income.
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1.6 Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of any individual asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

1.7 Leases

Leases for assets under which the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Obligations incurred under operating leases are recognised in the income statement in equal instalments over the period
of the lease.

1.8 Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the rates of exchange ruling on the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Gains and losses arising from the settlement of such transactions are recognised in the income statement.

1.9 Post-employment benefit costs

The company operates a defined contribution plan, the assets of which are generally held in a separate trustee-administered
fund. The fund is funded by payments from employees and the company. The company’s contributions are recognised in the
income statement during the period in which the employee renders the related service.

1.10 Intangible asset

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. The intangible asset
is being amortised on a straight line basis over a period of 8 years. It is reviewed for impairment periodically. The useful life
and method of amortisation is reviewed every year.

1.11 Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable
and borrowings. These instruments are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs, when the company becomes a party
to the contractual agreement. The financial instruments are subsequently measured as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents – measured at fair value.

Accounts receivable – stated at their nominal value and reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

Accounts payable – stated at nominal values.

Borrowings – carried at original debt value less principal repayments and amortisations.

1.12 Receipts in advance

Monies received which are not yet due, in terms of the contracts, are deferred and recorded as receipts in advance.

1.13 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

1.14 Provisions

Provision for leave is recognised as a present constructive obligation when, as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

1.15 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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2008 2007
R’000 R’000

2. PROFIT BEFORE INVESTMENT INCOME,
FINANCE COSTS, NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAIN
(LOSS), AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

Profit before investment income, finance costs, net foreign exchange gain (loss),
amortisation and impairment charges have been arrived at after charging the
following items:

Auditor’s remuneration: 209 189

- Fees 209 144
- Other services - 45

Depreciation 20 17
Loss on disposal of office furniture and equipment - 11

Directors’ emoluments
For services as non-executive directors
- Meeting fees 74 79

Selector honorariums 197 186

Salary and related employment costs
- Administration and related staff 3 970 3 972
- Players, team management and other non-permanent staff 37 644 51 475

Number of employees
- Administration and related staff 7 7
- Players, team management and other non-permanent staff 22 23

3. INVESTMENT INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Interest received – external 2 932 1 225

Investment income 2 932 1 225

Interest paid – United Cricket Board of South Africa 28 402 29 155

Finance costs 28 402 29 155

4. INTANGIBLE ASSET

Intangible asset at cost 371 522 371 522
Accumulated amortisation (241 175) (217 558)
Accumulated impairment (83 113) (83 113)

Carrying amount 47 234 70 851

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at beginning of year 300 671 244 766

Charge for the year 23 617 55 905
Amortisation 23 617 31 689
Impairment - 24 216

Balance at end of year 324 288 300 671

The intangible asset was purchased from the United Cricket Board of South Africa
and represented the value of future economic benefits of the sponsorship
agreements ceded to Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd.

5. TAXATION

South African normal taxation
Current taxation – current year - 11 888

– prior year - (3 504)
Deferred taxation – current year (4 078) 2 534

(4 078) 10 918

Reconciliation of rate of taxation % %

Taxation at standard rate 28.00 29.00
Taxable effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable income (17.32) (263.22)
Prior year adjustment - 56.90

Effective rate of taxation 10.68 (177.32)
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6. OFFICE FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT

Computer Furniture &
equipment fittings Total

R’000 R’000 R’000

2008

Cost
At beginning of the year 14 - 14
Disposals - - -
Additions 152 75 227

At end of the year 166 75 241

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of the year 14 - 14
Charge for the year 20 - 20
Disposals - - -

At end of the year 34 - 34

Carrying amount – 2008 132 75 207

2007

Cost
At beginning of the year 92 14 106
Additions (78) (14) (92)

At end of the year 14 - 14

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of the year 76 2 78
Charge for the year 16 1 17
Disposal (78) (3) (81)

At end of the year 14 - 14

Carrying amount – 2007 - - -

2008 2007
R’000 R’000

7. DEFERRED TAXATION

The movement in deferred taxation is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year 9 2 543
Income statement movement 4 078 (2 534)

Balance at end of the year 4 087 9

Analysis of deferred taxation by type of temporary difference:

Provisions 30 27
Prepaid expenses 1 (18)
Computed tax loss 4 056 -

4 087 9

8. LOAN: CENTRAL CRICKET FRANCHISE (PTY) LTD

Balance at beginning of the year - -
Loan raised 1 823 -
Interest accrued 170 -

Balance at end of the year 1 993 -

Consisting of:
Long term portion of the loan 1 681 -
Short term portion of the loan 312 -

Balance at end of the year 1 993 -

During the year under review a loan agreement was signed related to the
Central Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd. The loan bears interest at 8%, repayable
by way of monthly instalments with the final instalment being August 2013.



88

CRICKET SOUTH AFRICA (PROPRIETARY) LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
30 April 2008

2008 2007
R’000 R’000

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables 17 982 22 666
Employee loans 19 100
Prepayment - 61

18 001 22 827

Total trade receivables (gross of allowances) held by the company as at
30 April 2008 amounted to R18.0 million (2007: R22.7 million). The average trade
receivables days is 60 days.  No interest is charged on trade receivables.

Process for accepting new customers

Applications are assessed individually and are generally linked to aspects of cricket
business, being either related parties or generally “blue chip” commercial partners.
The trade receivables balance at year end is not insured.

Included in the company’s total trade receivables balance are accounts receivable
with the following carrying amounts:

Standard Bank Limited 9 089 9 325
CSI International Holdings SA 4 421 5 417
Mutual & Federal 1 200 846
Hummel 1 095 1 635
South African Broadcasting Corporation 958 -
Central Cricket Franchise (Pty) Ltd - 2 130
Stanlib Wealth Management - 1 026

16 763 20 379

Percentage of total trade receivables 93% 90%

There are no other customers (current or prior year) who represent
more than 5% of the total trade receivables balance.

At the reporting date, the company’s trade receivable balance is
disaggregated into the following product/service classes:

Sponsorships 17 740 21 986
Other 242 680

17 982 22 666

Included in the company’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying
amount of R 3.0 million (2007: R4.3 million) which are past due at the reporting
date for which the company has not provided as there has not been any significant
change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.
The company does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing of past due, but not impaired

61 – 90 days - -
91 – 120 days - 1 235
Over 120 day 3 084 3 099

3 084 4 334

The credit terms of the above past due trade receivables have not been renegotiated.
At year end there were no debtors that management considered to be impaired.

Provision for doubtful debts

Trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
trade receivables include the company’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in trade receivables past the average
trade receivables days of 60 days, as well as observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default receivables.

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Call deposits 123 000 1 644
Bank balance and cash 10 750 20 149

133 750 21 793
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2008 2007
R’000 R’000

11. SHARE CAPITAL*

Authorised
120 Ordinary shares of R1 each - -

Issued
100 Ordinary shares of R1 each - -

The unissued shares remain under the control of the directors until the next
annual general meeting.

* Due to rounding no amount are presented.

12. LOAN: UNITED CRICKET BOARD OF SOUTH AFRICA

Balance at beginning of the year 305 285 400 135
Interest accrued 28 402 29 155

333 687 429 290
Increase in loan 102 187 -
Less: Repaid - (124 005)

Balance at end of the year 435 874 305 285

Consisting of:
Subordinated portion of the loan 280 000 240 000
Current portion of the loan 155 874 65 285

Balance at end of the year 435 874 305 285

The loan arose out of the sale to Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd of an intangible
financial asset, which represented the value of future economic benefits of
sponsorship agreements ceded by the United Cricket Board of South Africa to
Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd.

The loan is unsecured and bears interest at a rate of 4.5% below the prime
overdraft rate. The loan is repayable by mutual agreement between the United
Cricket Board of South Africa and Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd.

The United Cricket Board of South Africa has deferred its right to claim or
accept payment of R280 million (2007: R240 million) of this loan until the assets
of Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd, fairly valued, exceed its liabilities.

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Balance includes the following:
Trade payables 16 234 4 646
Accruals 21 621 33 171

37 855 37 817

The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days.
No interest is charged on trade payables. The UCBSA has financial risk
management in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit period.

14. PROVISION

Opening balance 92 338
Used during the year (91) (426)
Raised during the year 110 180

Closing balance 111 92

The provision relates solely to leave pay.

15. RISK PROFILE

Debt – holding company (435 874) (305 285)
Cash and cash equivalents 133 750 21 793

Net debt (302 124) (283 492)

Deficit 273 103 239 002

The company is not exposed to external debt. The company manages its capital
(net debt) to ensure it will be able to continue as a going concern. The company is
technically insolvent hence there is no equity.
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R’000 R’000

15. RISK PROFILE (continued)

Interest rate and liquidity risk

Financing is received from the United Cricket Board of South Africa. In the ordinary course of business, the company receives
cash from its operations and is required to fund its own working capital.

Foreign currency risk

The company is exposed to foreign currency risk on the amounts received, mainly from sponsors and broadcasters. The Financial
Committee reviews its foreign cash flows regularly.

Credit risk management

Potential concentrations of credit risk consist principally of accounts receivable. At the year end, the company considers that there
were no significant concentrations of credit risk against which adequate provision has not been made.

Fair value

All financial instruments have been recognised in the balance sheet and there is no difference between their fair value and
carrying values.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates as at balance sheet date. A 100 basis
point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates. If interest rates had been
100 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the company’s loss for the year ended 30 April 2008 would
increase by R3.0 million (2007: loss will increase by R2.8 million). This is mainly attributable to the company’s exposure to variable
interest rates on the amount owed to the holding company.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The company is mainly exposed to the US Dollar currency. The following table details the company's sensitivity to a 10% increase
and decrease in the Rand against the US Dollar. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally and
represents management's assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes foreign
currency denominated revenue items and adjusts their translation during the year for a 10% change in foreign currency rates.

Weakening of Rand against US dollar by 10 % - Deficit 3 809 11 847
Strengthening of Rand against US dollar by 10% - Surplus 3 809 11 847

The above effect is mainly attributable to the exposure of the company to receipts from international television rights as well as
a rights fee from India in respect of games (3 ODIs) in Ireland during the year.
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16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd and its holding company, the United Cricket Board of South Africa, and other
cricket related parties as disclosed below.  The nature of these transactions have not been disclosed as they are all cricket related.

Trading transactions

Transactions between related parties during the year were at arm’s length.  During the year Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd entered
into the following transactions with related parties:

Amount Amount Amount
included in included included in

Entity Description # revenue in expenses trade payables
R’000 R’000 R’000

2008

Boland Cricket Union A - 102 -
Boland (Pty) Ltd PS - 408 -
Border Bears (Pty) Ltd PS - 824 -
Easterns (Pty) Ltd PS 5 424 -
Jumbos Cricket (Pty) Ltd PS 1 845 1 621 -
Cricket Free State (Pty) Ltd PS 12 1 468 -
Gauteng Strikers s21 PS 8 802 3 411 264
Griqua Diamonds (Pty) Ltd PS - 501 -
Titans Cricket (Pty) Ltd PS 2 960 1 615 -
North West Dragons (Pty) Ltd PS 9 714 -
Western Province (Pty) Ltd PS 4 606 701 -
Central Cricket Franchise BFN (Pty) Ltd F - 5 871 117
Cricket Eastern Cape (Pty) Ltd F - 5 835 119
Eastern Titans (Pty) Ltd F - 6 761 384
KZN (Pty) Ltd F 2 628 5 957 363
New Heights Cricket (Pty) Ltd F - 5 004 91
Western Cape Cricket (Pty) Ltd F - 5 603 371
Gauteng Cricket Board A - 4 -
United Cricket Board of South Africa HC - 49 205 -
Free State Cricket Union A - 76 -
Griquland West Cricket Board A - 1 056 -
Northerns Cricket Union A - 4 -
Western Province Cricket Assosciation A - 1 121 -

20 867 98 286 1 709

2007

Boland (Pty) Ltd PS - 423 -
Border Bears (Pty) Ltd PS - 787 -
Easterns (Pty) Ltd PS 5 477 -
Jumbos Cricket (Pty) Ltd PS 1 845 1 790 -
Cricket Free State (Pty) Ltd PS 68 1 361 -
Gauteng Strikers s21 PS 8 802 3 724 28
Griqua Diamonds (Pty) Ltd PS - 536 -
KZN (Pty) Ltd PS 2 628 1 022 1
Kwa-Zulu Natal Cricket Union A - 481 -
Titans Cricket (Pty) Ltd PS 2 960 2 045 -
North West Dragons (Pty) Ltd PS 9 726 -
Western Province (Pty) Ltd PS 4 606 2 555 -
Central Cricket Franchise BFN (Pty) Ltd F - 5 329 -
Cricket Eastern Cape (Pty) Ltd F - 5 415 159
Eastern Titans (Pty) Ltd F - 5 678 -
KZN (Pty) Ltd F - 6 413 61
New Heights Cricket (Pty) Ltd F - 5 365 2
Western Cape Cricket (Pty) Ltd F - 5 554 -
Northerns Cricket Union A - 133 -
United Cricket Board of South Africa HC - 48 119 -

20 923 97 933 251

# The abbreviations represent the following; A- Affiliate, F- Franchise, HC Holding Company, PS- Professional (Stadium)
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R’000 R’000

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

United Cricket Board of South Africa

Included in the above is a fee, of R20 803 000 (2007: R18 964 000), in respect of certain administrative services performed by
the United Cricket Board of South Africa for Cricket South Africa (Pty) Ltd. This amount is an appropriate allocation of costs incurred
by the relevant administration departments. The balance relates to interest incurred on the long term loan (refer note 12).

No guarantees have been given or received other than the subordination agreement disclosed in note 12. No expense has been
recognised in the period for bad debts or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties as all amounts are
recoverable in full.

All remuneration, including that of management and staff, is reviewed and approved by the Remuneration Committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION

Retirement benefits are provided for employees by means of provident funds to which the company contributes. The funds are
governed by the Pension Funds Act of 1956. All employees contribute to the funds.

The funds in operation at 30 April 2008 were the United Cricket Board of South Africa Midas Provident Fund and the United
Cricket Board of South Africa Provident Fund, both administered by Liberty Life. These are defined contribution plans where the
retirement benefits are determined with reference to the employee’s contributions. No actuarial valuations are required.

Provident fund contributions 827 911

18. KEY ASSUMPTIONS CONCERNING THE FUTURE AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

As required to be disclosed in terms of AC101 - Presentation of Financial Statements, there are no significant assumptions made
concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period.

19. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Deferred taxation assets
Deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available in future against
which the deferred taxation assets can be utilised. The future availability of taxable profits is based on management’s judgments
regarding future business plans.

Asset lives and residual values
Office furniture and equipment are depreciated to their residual values over their expected useful lives. Residual values and asset
lives are assessed annually based on management’s judgment of relevant factors and conditions.

20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Management of Cricket South Africa is not aware of any contingent liabilities and commitments at year end other than the
operating lease commitment disclosed in note 21.

21. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Minimum lease payments under operating leases for equipment recognised as an
expense in the year 78 -

At the balance sheet date outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating
equipment leases to external parties, which fall due, are as follows:

Within one year 95 -
Between two to five years 393 -

488 -
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22. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Generally Accepted Accounting Standards
on a basis consistent with the prior year, except for the adoption of the following new or revised Standards and Interpretations
applicable to the Board:

New Standards

AC 144 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Amendments to Standards

AC 101 - Presentation of Financial Statements - Capital Disclosures (Amendments)
AC 114 (Revised) - Borrowing Costs
Amendments to various standards resulting from the May 2008 annual improvements to IFRS.

New Interpretations

AC 440 - Applying the Restatement Approach under AC 124 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
AC 441 - Scope of AC 139
AC 442 - Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
AC 443 - Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations did not have a material impact on the company’s results
and financial position. The additional disclosure requirements have been implemented in the financial statements, where applicable.

The following Standards and Interpretations are not yet effective and will be adopted in future years:

New Standards

AC 125 (Revised) - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Amendments
AC 140 - Business Combinations
AC145 - Operating Segments

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will not have a material impact
on the financial statements of the company.

23. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

At the date of finalising this report the following significant post balance sheet events exist:

In terms of amendments to the Income Tax Act, Cricket is now able to amalgamate its professional [Cricket South Africa (Pty)
Ltd] and amateur [United Cricket Board of South Africa] cricket activities. This is intended to be achieved by converting Cricket
South Africa (Pty) Ltd to a S21 entity and then making a disposal from the United Cricket Board of South Africa (“UCBSA”) entity
in favor of the S21 entity. Moving to such a structure will enable all expenses, whether amateur or professional, to be deducted
against all revenue before income tax is assessed. Before the amalgamation occurs advice has been obtained from the South
African Revenue Service (“SARS”) that ideally the loans between the current entities should first be forgiven so as to avoid any
tax consequences. SARS is deliberating the process and the UCBSA is awaiting the outcome.
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